INTERACTIVITY FOR IMPROVING PERCEIVED PRODUCT INNOVATIVENESS

THE IMPACT OF ONLINE PRODUCT PRESENTATION INTERACTIVITY ON PRODUCT INNOVATIVENESS PERCEPTION

By ZEYNEP OZMEN TOKCAN, B.Sc., M.Sc.

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy in Business Administration

McMaster University © Copyright by Zeynep Ozmen Tokcan, May 2022

Ph.D. in Business Administration (2022)

Information Systems

McMaster University Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE: The Impact of Online Product Presentation Interactivity on Product Innovativeness Perception

AUTHOR: Zeynep Ozmen Tokcan, B.Sc., M.Sc. (McMaster University) SUPERVISORS: Dr. Goran Calic (Supervisor), Dr. Khaled Hassanein (Co-supervisor) NUMBER OF PAGES: ix, 128

Abstract

The emergence of online entrepreneurship platforms made it possible for entrepreneurs to fund their innovative ideas through financial support from business angels, venture capitalists, and crowds. Nevertheless, technology product development projects are the most difficult to fund on such platforms, with the least funding success and highest unsuccessful dollar value among all categories. One major factor affecting funding success on these platforms is the extent of perceived innovativeness of the presented technology products. The extant literature evinces that product innovativeness perception is influenced not only by novelty but also meaningfulness perception and that innovativeness brings higher funding success when novel projects are also perceived to be meaningful. By drawing on the theory of resonance, this study investigates the impact of interactivity on the extent of perceived innovativeness by creating an impact on resonance, which is proposed to represent all pre-identified aspects of meaningfulness. An online experiment was conducted to empirically validate the proposed research model, and increased interactivity was found to be positively associated with perceived product innovativeness through higher resonance. Theoretically, this study proposes the resonance concept to account for the meaningfulness perception regarding innovative product ideas and demonstrates the positive effect of increased interactivity on perceived innovativeness. *For practitioners, the results provide evidence for the positive impact of interactive product* presentation on the increased perception of resonance and, thus, innovativeness, which evinces a higher potential for funding success in highly innovative product development projects.

iii

Acknowledgments

I would not have been able to complete my PhD degree without the invaluable support of a number of people to whom I would like to express my sincerest gratitude.

First, I am so grateful for the continuous guidance, invaluable mentorship, excellent guidance, caring, and patience of my co-supervisors Dr. Goran Calic, and Dr. Khaled Hassanein. They have always been available to guide me, help me improve my scholarship and teaching skills, discuss any issues I had, and resolve any impediments throughout my thesis and research projects. Without their strong supervision, this dissertation would not be completed.

Second, I would like to thank my Supervisory Committee member Dr. Maryam Ghasemaghaei for her enlightening and insightful feedback throughout my program. Her supportive attitude and always constructive feedback helped me to complete this dissertation. My sincere thanks are also to Dr. Brian Detlor for his great mentorship in exemplifying the highest standards of university teaching, trusting my teaching abilities early in my PhD journey, and giving me the opportunity to work as a sessional faculty with him.

Finally, and foremost, I would like to thank my parents and in-laws who missed us so much over the past years, my daughter Defne Tokcan, who patiently sacrificed from our "mother-daughter times", and my husband M. Devrim Tokcan, who always believed in me and has always been ready to support me in finding a way out when I struggle. Words are not enough to express my gratitude for their support.

iv

Table of Contents

Chapter	1: Introduction	1
1.1.	Research Motivation	2
1.2.	Research Objectives	6
1.3.	Outline of the Thesis	8
Chapter	2: Contextual Background	9
2.1.	Perceived Innovativeness	9
2.2.	Interactivity on Online Platforms14	4
Chapter	3: Theoretical Development1	8
3.1.	Theoretical Background1	9
3.1.1.	Resonance	1
3.1.2.	The Theory of Resonance	3
3.2.	Research Model and Hypothesis Development2	5
3.2.1.	Interactivity	6
3.2.2.	Perceived Product Fit2	7
3.2.3.	Perceived Product Familiarity2	9
3.2.4.	Perceived Product Innovativeness	0
3.2.5.	Product Type	2
Chapter	4: Research Methodology	4
4.1.	Design of the Fictitious Product Presentation Web Pages	5
4.2.	Pilot Study4	8
4.3.	Main Study5	1
4.4.	Experimental Procedure	2
4.5.	Measures	4
4.6.	Model Validation	5
Chapter	5: Data Analysis and Results5	8
5.1.	Data Screening	8
5.1.1.	Outliers and Missing Values	8
5.1.2.	Normality Analysis	9
5.2.	Demographics	0

5.4. Research Model Validation
5.4.1. Measurement Model Assessment635.4.2. Common Method Bias705.4.3. Structural Model Assessment73
5.4.2. Common Method Bias705.4.3. Structural Model Assessment73
5.4.3. Structural Model Assessment
5.4.4. Results of Hypothesis Testing77
5.4.5. Interaction Plots for the Impact of Product Type80
5.4.6. Analysis of the Impact of the Control Variables
5.4.7. Saturated Model Analysis
Chapter 6: Discussion and Conclusion
6.1. Contributions to Theory
6.2. Contributions to Practice
6.3. Limitations and Future Research
6.4. Conclusion95
REFERENCES96
Appendix A: Consent Form109
Appendix B: Experimental Scenario Web Page111
Appendix C: Interactive Hedonic Product Presentation Web Page112
Appendix D: Non-Interactive Hedonic Product Presentation Web Page115
Appendix E: Interactive Utilitarian Product Presentation Web Page118
Appendix F: Non-Interactive Utilitarian Product Presentation Web Page122
Appendix G: The Measurement Instruments Adapted from the Extant Literature126

List of Figures

Figure 2-1: Conceptual Model of Perceived Innovativeness
Figure 3-1- Proposed Research Model
Figure 4-1- Default Outlook of Smartie (From Left to Right: Excited, Sad, Happy)39
Figure 4-2- Screen Shot of 3D Model on the Hedonic Shoe Interactive Web Page40
Figure 4-3- Screen Shot of the 3D Model on the Interactive Hedonic Shoe Web Page
(The happiness animation button on the right is clicked, and the connectivity annotation
button on the shoe model is clicked.)41
Figure 4-4- Screen Shot of the Video on the Non-Interactive Hedonic Shoe Page (Each of
the annotation buttons is activated one by one in the video without participant
interaction.)
Figure 4-5- Screen Shot of the Video on the Non-Interactive Hedonic Shoe Page while
the Video is Displaying the Animation Assigned to Sadness in the Default Configuration
Figure 4-6- Correction for Pronation and Supination
Figure 4-7- Screen Shot of 3D Model on the Utilitarian Shoe Interactive Web Page44
Figure 4-8- Screen Shot of the 3D Model on the Interactive Utilitarian Shoe Web Page
(The pronation animation button on the right is clicked.)45
Figure 4-9- Screen Shot of the 3D-Model on the Interactive Utilitarian Shoe Web Page
(The wireless charging annotation button on the shoe model is clicked.)46
Figure 4-10- Screen Shot of the Video on the Non-Interactive Utilitarian Shoe Page
(Each of the annotation buttons is activated one by one in the video without participant
interaction.)47

Figure 4-11- Screen Shot of the Video on the Non-Interactive Utilitarian Shoe Page whi	le
the Video is Displaying the Correction for Supination	17
Figure 5-1: LVPA Model Results	77
Figure 5-2: Impact of Hedonic Product Type on the Interactivity–Perceived Fit	
Relationship	31
Figure 5-3: Impact of Utilitarian Product Type on the Interactivity–Perceived Familiarit	у
Relationship	32

List of Tables

Table 4-1: Pilot Study Sample Sizes and Treatment Measure Averages 50
Table 4-2: Pilot Study Interactivity Treatment Measure Averages
Table 4-3: Pilot Study Hedonic/Utilitarian Treatment Measure Averages
Table 4-4: Summary of Test for the Measurement Model Fit Assessments
Table 4-5: Summary of Test for the Structural Model Fit Assessments 56
Table 5-1: Age Distribution of Participants
Table 5-2 Education Level of Participants
Table 5-3 Experience Level of Participants on Online Entrepreneurship Platforms61
Table 5-4: One-Way ANOVA Analysis for Interactivity Manipulation Check
Table 5-5: One-Way ANOVA Analysis for Hedonic Appeal Manipulation Check62
Table 5-6: One-Way ANOVA Analysis for Utilitarian Appeal Manipulation Check63
Table 5-7 Initial Loadings and Cross Loadings of Measures 64
Table 5-8 Final Loadings and Cross Loadings of Measures 67
Table 5-9 Reflective Construct Reliability and Validity Statistics 68
Table 5-10: CFA Marker Technique Analysis Results 72
Table 5-11: Marker Variable Correlation Table 73
Table 5-13 Goodness-of-Fit Measures 75
Table 5-14 Path Coefficient, Error, and R-Square Estimates 76
Table 5-15: Results of the Hypotheses Testing
Table 5-16: Control Variable Analysis 83
Table 5-17: SEM Results for Non-Hypothesized Paths – Saturated Model Analysis84

Chapter 1: Introduction

On online entrepreneurship platforms, many different categories of projects are presented with the aim of getting the required funding. Technology projects represent a category that aims to develop new technology products through funding support from crowdfunding audiences (i.e., potential backers). However, technology projects are the most difficult to fund, recording the least funding success and highest unsuccessful dollar value among all categories ("The Kickstarter Fulfillment Report" 2022). An important factor that affects funding success on these platforms is innovativeness perception of the presented products.¹ The extant literature suggests that product innovativeness perception is influenced not only by product novelty but also by product meaningfulness (in some other studies appropriateness) perception, where meaningfulness refers to the extent to which marketing initiatives are considered valuable to the audience (Andrews and Smith 1996).

Meaningfulness perception is an outcome of the meaning-making process, and meaning-making emerges through the interaction between the audience and the product (McDonnell et al. 2017) which emerges through cognitive congruence and emotional fit during the assessment of the product (Rindova and Petkova 2007). However, the interaction between the presented product and the audience is highly limited and structured on online platforms (Yang et al. 2020). The product innovativeness perception of the audience is driven by non-interactive campaign web pages, with limited opportunity to evaluate meaningfulness. This limitation is important because the extant research also demonstrates

¹ Throughout this thesis, the term "product" refers to "tangible new technology product," which excludes intangible "software-only" products such as video games.

that higher perceived innovativeness brings higher funding success when novel projects are also perceived to be meaningful (Im and Workman 2004; Szymanski et al. 2007).

The extant research demonstrates the positive impact of interactive product presentation on financial outcomes (e.g., Daugherty et al. 2008; Schlosser 2006; Yi et al. 2015). This study extends the literature by investigating the relationship between an interactive online examination of technology products and the product innovativeness perception outcome through higher meaningfulness perception, with the aim to provide a remedy for low technology product funding success on online platforms (Le Pendeven and Schwienbacher 2021; Oo et al. 2019; Szymanski et al. 2007).

1.1. Research Motivation

The emergence of online entrepreneurship platforms has initiated a new era in the funding of new technology, the purpose of which is "to bring creative ideas to life" (Ryu 2019). As of 2020, crowdfunding, one important set of such platforms, has made it possible for entrepreneurs to fund their innovative ideas by leveraging a massive market of \$300 billion in funding ("P2P Market Data" 2020). Entrepreneurs seek funding on these platforms for a diverse set of purposes and products, such as video games, novels, or technology products.

Nevertheless, tangible technology products are particularly difficult to fund over the Internet. According to statistics from one of the most popular reward-based crowdfunding platforms, Kickstarter, the technology category, which is comprised of new technology product development projects, has the lowest success rate and highest unsuccessful dollar value among all project categories ("The Kickstarter Fulfillment Report" 2022). According

to Kickstarter, as of May 2022, while the success rate of technology projects was around 21.8%, the average success rate of the remaining 14 project categories was 41.2% when technology projects were excluded. Moreover, the unsuccessful dollar value of technology projects comprised 25% of the cumulative unsuccessful dollar amount, in which unsuccessful dollar value refers to the total amount of pledges to unsuccessfully funded projects due to the pledged amount being lower than the required amount to realize the project. This is dramatic for technology projects because on platforms such as Kickstarter, the funding is "all or nothing," which means that if the pledged amount does not reach the target amount, the entrepreneur receives no funding at all.

The remedy for the low funding success rate of tangible technology products is hidden in the causes. Despite other project categories—namely publishing, music, video games, food and craft, comics, film, and arts—tangible technology products require development of new technology diverging from the existing technology which is riskier to materialize in terms of providing harder-to-understand benefits. Under these circumstances, the extent of the innovativeness of these products¹ in terms of the benefits they provide is the major facilitator of funding, which has to be sufficiently appealing by promising meaningful benefits to motivate the audience (i.e., a potential backer) to ignore the risks involved (Oo et al. 2019).

In its broader form, innovativeness is driven by "newness" (i.e., novelty). A hig her degree of newness is expected to increase experiences of innovativeness and a lower degree of newness is considered to be at the other end of the spectrum (Garcia and Calantone 2002). Whereas particularly for a new product to be perceived as highly innovative, many

scholars argued that not only novelty but also "meaningfulness" (in some studies appropriateness, in some others congruence) are essential (Amabile 1983; de Brentani 1989; Fang 2008; Sethi et al. 2001; Szymanski et al. 2007). Indeed, unless an innovation demonstrates cognitive congruence and emotional fit with an audience, it is perceived as strange, weird, or incomprehensible (Jackson and Messick 1965). When cognitive congruence and emotional fit are achieved, the audience perceives the innovative product as more meaningful and valuable (Andrews and Smith 1996; Rindova and Petkova 2007), which has a strong positive association with perceived product innovativeness (Zhang et al. 2016). Moreover, while innovativeness is positively associated with funding success (Le Pendeven and Schwienbacher 2021; Oo et al. 2019), product innovations that are less meaningful, congruent, and appropriate are more difficult to fund over online entrepreneurship platforms (Chan and Parhankangas 2017) and have lower financial performance (Szymanski et al. 2007). Indeed, some researchers have argued that meaningfulness is more impactful than novelty in terms of new product financial funding performance (Im and Workman 2004). In their meta-analysis, Szymanski et al. (2007) concluded that the positive impact of product innovativeness on financial performance was stronger in studies that accounted for the meaningfulness aspect in their innovativeness definition. In another study, Im and Workman (2004) found that while new product novelty does not have a significant impact on financial performance, new product meaningfulness is strongly positively associated with financial performance.

The challenge in facilitating meaningfulness² perception about a highly innovative product lies in its major divergence from the existing technology and products (Chen et al. 2020). Examining a product virtually increases the extent of this challenge even further. Before online entrepreneurship platforms were created, potential investors (i.e., potential backers) could directly experience a new product or its prototype. With the emergence of virtual platforms, more product presentations take place online, reducing opportunities to directly experience new products. Instead of a direct product experience, entrepreneurs provide video pitches and photographs of the product alongside text descriptions. Despite the extensive use of multiple media, online entrepreneurship platforms still provide limited opportunities to evaluate products (Wells et al. 2011). The limits of this experience impact product innovativeness perception. Thus, in this study, I explore the potential impact of online interactivity in new product presentations on perceived product innovativeness through increased meaningfulness to create the potential for higher funding success.

The possible impact of perceived product novelty on product innovativeness perception is beyond the scope of this research study for multiple reasons. One reason is that the extent of perceived product novelty is related to the perceived newness of the new product with respect to the existing or already-adopted products (Wei et al. 2022). In this study, the interactivity of the presentation format of an innovative product was hypothesized

 $^{^2}$ Rindova and Petkova (2007) demonstrated that perceived consumer value (i.e., perceived product meaningfulness (Andrews and Smith 1996)) emerges through cognitive congruence and emotional fit responses. On the other hand, Amabile (1983) and Jackson and Messick (1965) used the term "appropriateness," instead of "meaningfulness," in addition to "novelty" in their product innovativeness conceptualization, in which an appropriate product refers to a meaningful product that also fits into its context by solving a problem. Throughout this thesis, to enhance readability, the term meaningfulness will be used to describe the second influencer of innovativeness perception other than novelty (Figure 2-1).

to have an impact only on perceived meaningfulness, not on the extent of perceived newness (i.e., perceived novelty). Moreover, the impact of novelty on innovativeness perception is vastly elaborated in the literature (e.g., Brockman and Morgan 2003; Garcia and Calantone 2002). Therefore, this study aimed to investigate whether an interactive presentation of an innovative product was positively associated with increased product innovativeness perception through increased perceived meaningfulness.

While the multiple aspects of interaction with product presentations on online platforms have been studied in the context of eCommerce, none of these studies have explored the relationship between product interactivity and product innovativeness perception.

1.2. Research Objectives

Online entrepreneurship platforms present new products through text descriptions, videos, and images. The audience's interaction with the presented product is limited to navigating through the product campaign page, reading the description, and watching videos. Unlike on some eCommerce websites, the audience of these platforms cannot directly control or modify the presented product in an interactive fashion. For simple and routine products, the lack of a realistic product experience may not create a barrier to funding; however, for innovative products, the inability to reduce ambiguity through interaction reduces congruence and investment likelihood (Jahng et al. 2000).

A virtual product experience allows for the movement of a product and the possibility to experience its functionality (Jiang and Benbasat 2004), thereby leading to a more realistic product experience (Daugherty et al. 2008; Klein 2003). Such an experience

increases the ability to visualize the presented product (Escalas 2004; Liu et al. 2019), comprehend it (Daugherty et al. 2008; Suh and Lee 2005), and the probability of getting attached to it (Desmet and Hekkert 2007). Specifically, the opportunity to virtually interact with a product has a strong positive correlation with the congruence perception of the audience of the product being examined (Gabisch 2011). More importantly, the emergence of resonance, which refers to a meaning-making process initiated by congruence, is a process structured by the interaction between the audience (i.e., potential backers) and the presented product (McDonnell et al. 2017). Therefore, a multisensory interaction with an innovative product may facilitate the emergence of meaningfulness and congruence perceptions. Following the product innovativeness literature, which identifies meaningfulness and congruence as major drivers of innovativeness perception alongside novelty, the main objective of this thesis study is to investigate the impact of higher levels of interactivity on product innovativeness perception, a relationship that I hypothesize is mediated by perceived meaningfulness and congruence. Therefore, the first research question of this study is as follows:

RQ1. How and to what extent does the interactivity of new product presentations on online entrepreneurship platforms influence the perceived innovativeness of such products?

Congruence and meaningfulness are characterized by cognitive and emotional dimensions (Im et al. 2015; Rindova and Petkova 2007). Almost every product has both hedonic and utilitarian appeal, albeit in different proportions³ (Batra and Ahtola 1991). The

³ Throughout this thesis, the term "hedonic product" refers to a product whose hedonic appeal is more dominant than its utilitarian appeal. Similarly, the term "utilitarian product" refers to a product whose utilitarian appeal is more dominant than its hedonic appeal.

hedonic component is related to the *sensations* arising from the product experience (Voss et al. 2003), whereas the utilitarian component focuses on functional attributes and instrumental expectations regarding effectiveness, usefulness, necessity, and practicality (Voss et al. 2003). The extant literature provides evidence of the varying significance of cognitive congruence and emotional fit based on product type. For instance, Kempf (1999) demonstrated that the hedonic and utilitarian appeal of a product moderates the impact of audience-product interaction on the audience's product evaluations. He found that the affective response stemming from the product-audience interaction experience influences the evaluation result of "hedonic" products. A more recent study suggested that evaluating utilitarian products evokes more intense cognitive information processing, whereas affective processing is in place for hedonic products (Melnyk et al. 2012). Therefore, the extent of the hedonic or utilitarian appeal of the product under examination may influence the impact mechanism of interactivity on perceived innovativeness. In light of this finding, it is reasonable to expect that innovativeness perceptions would be contingent on product type, whether hedonic or utilitarian. Thus, the second research question is as follows:

RQ2. Does product type (hedonic/utilitarian) moderate the relationships between interactivity and the antecedents of perceived new product innovativeness on online entrepreneurship platforms?

1.3. Outline of the Thesis

The rest of this thesis is organized as follows. Chapter 2 provides a literature review on perceived product innovativeness and the use of interactivity on online platforms. Chapter 3 presents the theoretical background and research model of the study. The research methodology and experimental design are explained in Chapter 4, while Chapter 5 discusses the data analysis and study results. Finally, Chapter 6 outlines the anticipated theoretical and practical contributions and potential limitations.

Chapter 2: Contextual Background

Section 2.1. of this chapter provides a contextual background on the perceived innovativeness of new products, while Section 2.2. presents an overview of the impact of interactivity on online presentation mediums.

2.1. Perceived Innovativeness

The perceived innovativeness of new products has been extensively researched. In a broad sense, perceived innovativeness refers to the extent of the uniqueness of a product in comparison with its competitors (Sethi and Sethi 2009; Wu et al. 2004), and firms that are successful at developing innovative products generally achieve a competitive advantage (Calantone et al. 2010; Menguc and Auh 2010). Indeed, firms that are perceived to be good at developing innovative products are expected to distinctly address diverse demands and accrue corresponding benefits from this differentiation (Story et al. 2015; Walheiser et al. 2021).

A mostly neglected aspect of the perceived innovativeness concept is the perspective difference between the innovator and audience. An offering that the innovator considers innovative may not be perceived as such by the audience of the product (Boisvert and Khan 2022; Calantone et al. 2006; Im et al. 2015; Lee and Colarelli O'Connor 2003). The extent of innovativeness is generally measured by the degree of "newness" of an

innovation, usually judged by the innovator (Garcia and Calantone 2002). However, from the audience's perspective, novelty is not enough to explain the emergence of the innovativeness perception. A product may be considered highly innovative if it is novel, specifically in a way that is valued by the audience (Fang 2008; Im et al. 2015; Sethi et al. 2001). Called "meaningful novelty" or "meaningful uniqueness," this notion is widely used in the context of marketing.

In line with this perspective, social psychology research on product innovativeness has also argued that innovativeness is not only related to the extent of "novelty" but is also contingent on the "appropriateness" of the product from the perspective of potential customers (Amabile 1983; Jackson and Messick 1965) as a placeholder concept for meaningfulness. In this definition, novelty refers to the extent to which the product differs from existing products, and meaningfulness refers to the extent to which the product is valuable and has the properties required to solve a problem (Amabile 1983; Andrews and Smith 1996; Jackson and Messick 1965). Although novelty would be the first criterion to assess product innovativeness, without the second criterion (i.e., appropriateness), products considered innovative would simply be "strange," "odd," or "bizarre" (Jackson and Messick 1965). The conceptual model of perceived innovativeness based on this literature is shown in Figure 2-1.



Figure 2-1: Conceptual Model of Perceived Innovativeness

Rindova and Petkova (2007) investigated the antecedents of the perceived value of an innovation and found it to be contingent on the cognitive congruity and emotional fit of the innovation with the preferences of the audience. They stated that value perception, which makes an innovation meaningful for the audience, is constructed by triggering a variety of emotional and cognitive responses based on complex fit and congruence assessments about the innovation. Similar to Jackson and Messick (1965), they noted that when the presented innovation does not fit existing schemas, it will be perceived as strange, weird, or incomprehensible (Rindova and Petkova 2007).

Zhang et al. (2016) also justified the impact of meaningfulness on overall innovativeness perception. Their study on the impact of meaningfulness (i.e., value) on innovativeness perception demonstrates that higher perceived meaningfulness is positively

associated with perceived product innovativeness. Therefore, if the audience does not perceive a product as meaningful, they are unlikely to perceive it as innovative.

The meaningfulness of an innovative product also has an important relationship with financial success. In an empirical study, Im and Workman (2004) found that while the novelty extent of an innovative product does not have a direct effect on its financial performance, meaningfulness has a significant positive association with financial success. This finding is also supported by a meta-analysis. In a comprehensive study, Szymanski et al. (2007) investigated the correlation between product innovativeness and new product performance by meta-analyzing the empirical findings of 95 research studies. In their innovativeness assessment, they found that the correlation between innovativeness and new product performance was stronger in studies that address meaningfulness of the innovation. Lastly, venture capitalists make funding decisions and have been found to favor familiarity by preferring projects with novelty frames used alongside familiarity frames (Pan et al. 2020).

In the scope of online entrepreneurship, the positive impact of the perceived meaningfulness of an innovative product on financial success can be observed through the innovativeness perspective of each study. In one recent study, Chan and Parhankangas (2017) found that radically innovative projects were less successful at reaching their funding goals compared with incrementally innovative projects. By identifying radical and incremental innovativeness as two distinct categories, they differentiated radically innovative projects as more difficult to understand and as providing benefits of lower value; thus, they mostly do not fit with the consumption routines of the audience. Conversely, they

defined incrementally innovative projects as more familiar and beneficial. With these two distinct definitions of radical and incremental innovations, the authors demonstrated that incremental projects, which are more meaningful and congruent from the perspective of the innovativeness literature, were more successful in attracting funding.

In another crowdfunding research study, Oo et al. (2019) found product innovativeness to be positively associated with crowdfunding success, whereby higher innovativeness refers to creating "more novel product ideas with higher use values" (p. 4). As higher value perception has been found to be driven by a combination of cognitive and affective fit assessments (Jahng et al. 2000), Oo and his colleagues' perspective addressed both novelty and congruence as drivers of product innovativeness. From this standpoint, they found a positive relationship between product innovativeness and funding success.

In summary, perceived novelty, specifically from the audience's perspective, is not the sole influencer of product innovativeness. This perception of relatedness, valuableness, and problem-solving capacity, referred to as meaningfulness throughout this thesis, may influence product innovativeness perception, which, as I argue, creates a stronger positive impact on the funding success of new innovative product ideas.

According to McDonnel et al. (2017), in order to facilitate the level of resonance that would lead to higher meaningfulness and inspire a higher capacity for problem-solving and higher congruence between the audience (i.e., potential backers) and the product, there must necessarily be an interaction between the audience and the product as these perceptions emerge through interactions (McDonnell et al. 2017). The literature on interactive product presentation on online platforms, its impact, and consequences is discussed in the next section. The theory behind the hypothesized impact of interactivity on perceived product innovativeness is elaborated in Chapter 3:.

2.2. Interactivity on Online Platforms

To fulfill the main objective of this study (i.e., to investigate whether higher interactivity in presenting an innovative product enhances perceived innovativeness through increased meaningfulness and congruence perceptions), there is a need to understand how interactivity can create this kind of impact. In this thesis study, interactivity is defined as an aspect of immersion that improves the reality perception of a virtual experience by enhanced user control. The extent to which an online product presentation creates a realistic experience depends on the extent to which the environment has the capability to interactively responding to the "body movements" of users (Peukert et al. 2019; Slater and Wilbur 1997). Although not in use in online entrepreneurship platforms, virtual product experience (VPE) provides a means to interact with a product by controlling the presented content in a 3D setting through a mediating tool, such as a mouse. In comparison with non-interactive mediums, VPE provides a higher degree of user control in different aspects of the product under examination, improves the feeling of direct interaction (Hutchins et al. 1985), and provides a more realistic product experience (Klein 2003).

For multiple reasons, a more realistic and direct-like product experience fosters a stronger cognitive and emotional interaction between the individual and the product. First, human beings perceive the environment through their senses by interacting with it. The way in which the senses are activated and used changes the way a product under examination is perceived. In an experiential study, Gibson (1966) demonstrated how interactive

examination, specifically having physical interaction with three-dimensional (3D) objects, helps improve human perceptual processing. His experiment demonstrated that in comparison with watching the rotating views of an object, having the opportunity to guide the rotation of the object improves the accuracy of comprehension by 25%. This experiment illustrated that guided behavior, which relies on the awareness of the relation between the individual's action and the corresponding sensory response, changes the overall perception associated with the object being explored. The experiment demonstrated how the interactive presentation of a product influences the "product-related perceptions" of the examiner.

Second, information gained through interaction affects not only the perceptual accuracy of an object but also the overall response to it. In support of this claim, Smith (1993) proposed the integrated information response model as a framework to gain a deeper understanding of how individuals use advertorial and trial-based information in assessing a new product. Based on integrated information theory, Smith's model empirically demonstrated that when a product can be evaluated directly, the resultant trial-sourced beliefs of the audience are stronger than their ad-sourced beliefs, and thus, trial-sourced beliefs are expected to dominate the audience's perceptions about the product (Smith 1993). Moreover, his experiment demonstrated that trial-only beliefs are much stronger than advertorial-only beliefs. Thus, in addition to advertorial information, having the opportunity to gain trial information about a product affects the judgmental perceptions of evaluators, with the magnitude of this effect being significant.

Smith's finding is supported by the extant literature in both cognitive and emotional directions. In terms of increased cognition, Mooy and Robben (1998) demonstrated that

directly experiencing a product increases the amount of information acquired and processed by the audience, leading to a "more intensive and multisensory exploration of the product" (p. 319). Direct experience also increases belief confidence and belief strength regarding the product (Mooy and Robben 1998). In a more recent study, Choi and Taylor (2014) demonstrated that providing an opportunity for direct-like product experience in virtual environments facilitates stronger responses in terms of affection and persuasion.

Third, the lack of interactivity on online product presentation mediums attenuates the imagery performance of individuals (Liu et al. 2019), which they need in order to associate themselves with the product through self-referencing (Brown et al. 1986). Having a more realistic experience with an innovative product through VPE increases the perceived congruence between the product and the audience's self (Gabisch 2011), and thus, interactivity can be the key to facilitating higher congruence with innovative products presented online.

Although the impact of higher interactivity on perceived product innovativeness in presenting highly innovative ideas on online platforms has not been investigated in the online funding or online shopping literature, the consequences of higher interactivity on product presentation mediums have been explored. For example, Jiang and Benbasat (2004) investigated the impact of VPE on overall perceived product diagnosticity and perceived flow on online shopping mediums. They demonstrated the positive impact of increased control on both variables. Another study (Jiang and Benbasat 2007) showed that interactivity in online product presentation is positively associated with the perception of compatibility with in-store shopping as well as with the extent of perceived diagnosticity and shopping enjoyment. In addition to emotional effects such as enjoyment, these studies also justified the significant impact of interactivity on cognitive processes regarding products, such as improved learning, diagnosticity, and understanding.

Klein (2003) also elaborated on the faciliatory effect of product presentation interactivity on the cognitive processes of the users of these mediums. According to her findings, VPE leads to a higher sense of immersion through which the audience's cognitive responses change (Klein 2003). Complementing Klein's research, Li et al. (2001) studied the affective impact of virtual experience. The authors state that virtual experience in an e-Commerce setting represents an affective psychological state, that demonstrates that the VPE also engenders emotional outcomes. In support of this argument, Fortin and Dholakia (2005) evaluated the overall impact of interactivity on advertising effectiveness by measuring the extent of arousal and its consequences created by interactivity on both cognitive and affective attitudes. The study provided an empirical justification for the positive effect of interactivity in both the cognitive and affective dimensions of attitude toward the product.

The impact of interactive online product experience on purchase intention has also been explored in the literature. For example, Schlosser (Schlosser 2006) demonstrated the significant positive effect of product interactivity on both cognitive elaboration and mental imagery, in turn facilitating stronger attitudes and purchase intentions. Daugherty et al. (2008) demonstrated the same positive correlation between the interactivity of virtual experience and purchase intention through increased learning. Yi et al. (2015) investigated the impact of product interaction on the audience's behavior and found that interactivity

leads to higher purchase intention through the mediation of higher engagement and enticement.

Interactive product presentation is positively associated with purchase intention and improves the audience's imagery performance. In one such study investigating the effect of perceived interactivity on mental imagery performance in a more immersive environment, such as augmented reality, Park and Yoo (2020) demonstrated that increase in interactivity increases the mental imagery performance of the users of the medium. In another study, Liu et al. (2019) demonstrated the faciliatory effect of increased interactivity on users' haptic and spatial imagery performance. All these studies evince the impact of interactive product presentations on users' perceptions in a way that resembles a direct experience, which would be expected to affect the product-related perceptions of the users of these interactive platforms.

Chapter 3: Theoretical Development

To answer the research questions outlined in the introductory section of this study, this chapter presents relevant theories in an effort to develop a research model. The research model explores the impact of individuals' virtual interaction with a product of dominantly hedonic or utilitarian appeal on the perceived innovativeness of that product on an online entrepreneurship platform. The theoretical background of the research model is presented in Section 3.1. The proposed theoretical model and associated hypotheses are explained in Section 3.2.

3.1. Theoretical Background

Audiences judge products as innovative depending on their novelty and appropriateness for intended use (Amabile 1983; Fang 2008; Sethi et al. 2001; Szymanski et al. 2007). The appropriateness of a product refers to its meaningfulness and its fit in its context in solving a problem or inspiring a problem by providing a solution (Jackson and Messick 1965). Meaningfulness refers to perceived value driven by cognitive congruence and emotional fit (Andrews and Smith 1996; Rindova and Petkova 2007). In this study, the theory of resonance inspired the grounds to address the concepts of appropriateness, meaningfulness, and congruence that accompany novelty in providing a holistic view of product innovativeness.

In its earlier definitions, the resonance of a product with its audience involved the congruence of the product from the audience's perspective (Benford and Snow 2000). McDonnell et al. (2017) broadened this definition beyond congruence in their theory of resonance by emphasizing the necessity of the meaning-making process for resonance to happen. From their perspective, resonance would be impossible without congruence. However, not all congruent objects resonate with their audience, unless they are also meaningful to the audience. An essential aspect of meaning-making and relevance is defined as the capability to solve a problem in the audience's world. Accordingly, "seeing resonance as an experience emerging when affective and cognitive work provides actors with novel ways to puzzle out, or 'solve,' practical situations" (McDonnell et al. 2017, p. 3). However, that problem does not have to be an existing problem. Rather, "a "solution" often retroactively defines the problem" (McDonnell et al. 2017, p. 4). From this perspective,

resonance may enable the audience to create or identify a problem and inspire solutions to it.

The theory of resonance also clarifies the emergence mechanism of resonance between objects and their audience. According to McDonnell et al. (2017, p.1), "resonance is an emergent process through interactions." They argued that defining resonance simply as congruence misses the significance of the interactions between the product and audience, particularly when the audience is faced with situations that they have never been exposed to or that do not fit in any available schema within their worldview. From this perspective, resonance leads to stronger emotions when people reach novel solutions as a result of nonritual interactions. Evaluating a highly innovative product on an online platform is an example of such a situation in which the audience is exposed to a product that is most probably one of the first examples of its kind.

According to the reviewed literature, the meaningfulness of an innovative product refers to the extent to which the product is perceived to be valuable by the target audience (Andrews and Smith 1996). As a broader concept than meaningfulness, product appropriateness refers to the extent to which a product is both meaningful and fits in its context by inspiring a solution to a problem or task (Amabile 1983). Emphasizing the same aspects covered by this terminology within the close proximity of meaningfulness, the theory of resonance states that resonance occurs through congruence, where "meaningmaking" has to be built in order to inspire a solution to a relevant problem. The theory also sheds light on the emergence of resonance, which occurs by emphasizing the importance of the interaction between the product and its audience. Therefore, in light of the theory of

resonance, in this thesis, I argue that the resonance concept covers the meaningfulness, congruence, and appropriateness concepts by supporting every aspect of these concepts identified within the innovativeness literature. The resonance concept and theory are further elaborated in the following sections.

3.1.1. Resonance

In the marketing domain, the resonance concept is mainly used to analyze why some frames—the organization and packaging of information (Wang 2007)—tend to be more successful than others (e.g., Lempiälä et al., 2019; Pan et al., 2020). In the venture funding domain, resonance is considered a key factor in improving the likelihood of funding success. Given the positive effect of resonance on product introduction success (Eyal 2015), venture capitalists have been found to evaluate entrepreneurial narratives for their capacity to create resonance with the target audience (Pan et al. 2020). Indeed, rhetoric that resonates with the target audience increases the positive attitude toward the new venture and its likelihood of attracting funding (van Werven et al. 2019).

As exemplified above, there is a large body of research on resonance within the framing literature. Moving from there, Giorgi (2017) provided a conceptual model of resonance mainly for analyzing the impact of framing in different contexts. Giorgi's model also has significant implications for analyzing success and failure stories of technological innovations according to the way they are perceived by the audience (Giorgi 2017). For example, analyzing the e-mail acceptance phenomenon through a framing perspective revealed that e-mail technology was not framed by users as an autonomy-diminishing technology and, thus, received a positive reaction, which had, in the end, limited user

autonomy by imposing the necessity of being available to respond anywhere, anytime (Mazmanian et al. 2013). From this perspective, the perceived awkwardness or congruity of an innovation is also an act of framing, where resonance can be the associated concept to analyze the phenomenon.

Resonance is proposed as a bipartite topology composed of cognitive and emotional dimensions. Cognitive resonance stems from the perceived alignment of an item with the audience's understanding, for which familiarity is the main mechanism (Giorgi 2017). Conversely, emotional resonance stems from the "felt" fit of an item with the aspirations or desires of the audience, where the main mechanism is identification (Giorgi 2017; Pratt 2000). In this line of thought, identification refers to a specific type of emotional fit achieved between an item and an audience through the influence of the audience's preferences and desires to facilitate a positive reaction to an offering (Pratt 2000).

A particular technology may resonate with people for cognitive reasons or through emotional attachment (Giorgi 2017). Adapting Giorgi's (2017) perspective to the scope of this research study implies that the audience examining a highly innovative product will frame it according to the cognitive and emotional resonance they have with it, and the extent of resonance is the extent of the cognitive congruence and emotional fit they feel with the product through interaction and sense-making. This perspective provides a comprehensive model to measure the extent of meaningful congruence between a product and an audience's expectations. Adapting Giorgi's (2017) and Pratt's (2000) mechanisms, I measured cognitive resonance by the extent of a participant's perceived familiarity with the presented product. emotional resonance by the perceived fit of the product with the audience's identity through personal tastes, desires, and preferences as the initial step of identification that could, at best, be achieved in the very first moment of experiencing a highly innovative product. According to this line of reasoning, the more familiar the audience perceives an innovation and the more it fits their tastes, preferences, and desires, the more they would resonate with it.

3.1.2. The Theory of Resonance

Benford and Snow (2000) defined resonance as the congruence between an object and its audience. However, McDonnel et al. (2017) argued that defining resonance simply as congruence weakens its value. They stated that "while resonance may emerge through a process of alignment, not all congruent objects lead to resonance" (McDonnell et al. 2017, p. 2). Therefore, classifying an object as "congruent" or "incongruent" underestimates the significance of the audience–product interaction process that leads to resonance. For an object to resonate with the audience, in addition to congruence, meaning-making ought to be completed through the interaction between the audience and the product (McDonnell et al. 2017). Through the lenses of this theory, allowing the audience to interact with a new product virtually may enhance its chance of resonating with the audience's cognitive and emotional standpoint. Consequently, a higher product innovativeness perception may emerge due to the influential power of meaningfulness and congruence on the extent of perceived value (Rindova and Petkova 2007), which has a significant positive association with product innovativeness perception (Zhang et al. 2016).

As another perspective in resonance research, the resonance marketing hypothesis states that the audience of product presentations today use product-related information,

which is becoming easier to access every single day, to identify the product that meet their wants, desires, needs, and cravings in the best possible way (Clemons et al. 2006). As such, product differentiation is perceived to be valuable when it resonates with the target audience (Clemons et al. 2005). Indeed, differentiation facilitates a positive customer attitude if it is in congruence with customers' cognitive and emotional stance (Rindova and Petkova 2007).

In fact, it is not easy to resonate with a highly innovative product. Such products are more difficult to imagine (Zhao et al. 2012) and self-reference (Dahl and Hoeffler 2004), hindering the ability of the audience to decide whether the product fits their tastes, desires, and preferences. Such a product is also more difficult to comprehend, which attenuates the audience's ability to become familiar with it. Based on the theory of resonance, interaction with such a product may facilitate resonance. Indeed, the advantage of direct experience in overcoming these challenges compared to virtual examination lies in the convenience of interacting with the product in the physical world. Increasing the interaction between the product and the audience (i.e., potential backers) may result in the online product experience further resembling the direct experience and, thus, may increase the chances of a highly innovative product resonating with the potential audience.

As discussed earlier, resonance may be the appropriate concept to represent the perceived meaningfulness, congruence, and appropriateness of a new product. Based on this proposition, resonance may be the key to product differentiation in the form of innovation that is not perceived as strange, weird, or incomprehensible to the extent that it resonates with the target audience. Supporting this argument, Giorgi (2017, p. 730) noted that resonance has the potential to shed light on differing reactions to technology innovations

and may help us understand why a technology might be perceived in different ways by different audiences. In light of this literature and reasoning, I modeled resonance as the mediating variable between interactivity and perceived product innovativeness, which I explain in the following section.

3.2. Research Model and Hypothesis Development

The proposed research model in light of the research objectives, literature, and theory of resonance is depicted in **Figure 3-1**.



Figure 3-1- Proposed Research Model

The theory of resonance (McDonnell et al. 2017) inspired the mediation of cognitive and emotional resonance between interactivity and perceived product innovativeness. Following Giorgi's (2017) research, resonance is operationalized as a bipartite structure with both cognitive and emotional aspects, with the cognitive aspect being operationalized as perceived familiarity (Giorgi 2017) (i.e., perceived product

familiarity) and the emotional aspect as the perceived fit (Pratt 2000) (i.e., perceived product fit) of the presented product with the audience's (i.e., potential backer's) identity in terms of desires, preferences, and tastes (Hong and Pavlou 2010; Pratt 2000). Each construct in the research model and the associated hypotheses are detailed in the following sub-sections.

3.2.1. Interactivity

Within the scope of this thesis study, interactivity refers to the extent to which the presentation medium enables the users of the medium to control and modify the product so that the online product experience is perceived closer to directly interacting with that product in the physical world. Lombard and Ditton (1997) argued that in a mediated environment, an increased number of sensory channels would increase perceived immersion (Klein 2003). In this sense, while non-interactive virtual environments, such as today's online entrepreneurship platforms, are not expected to create a sense of direct experience, a virtual environment through which the audience of the product can interact with the presented product using mediating devices (e.g., mouse) creates a more realistic product experience. Enabled by such mediums, VPE is an interactive product presentation mode that provides virtual interaction with 3D computer simulations of a product through user control (Jiang and Benbasat 2004). This interaction can only be visual, facilitating the perception of the imagery as real (Schlosser 2006), or both visual and functional, providing a higher level of user control (Jiang and Benbasat 2004) and leading to a less mediated (Klein 2003) and more realistic (Lombard and Ditton 1997) product experience.
3.2.2. Perceived Product Fit

In this research, I define perceived product fit as the extent of the alignment between the presented product and the audience's taste, affective preferences, and desire to possess and use the product (Hong and Pavlou 2014; Pratt 2000). Due to the lack of direct product experience opportunities through online product presentations, fit evaluation in online environments necessitates self-referencing and self-visualization ability. Selfreferencing is the activity of processing information by relating it to some personal aspects such as memories, preferences, or visual characteristics (Burnkrant and Unnava 1995). Selfvisualization is the activity of imagining the self and the presented product within the same environment, if applicable, while using the product (Dahl and Hoeffler 2004). Research on persuasive communication demonstrates that fit assessment through self-referencing and self-visualization is heavily contingent on related experiences that facilitate the connections between what is presented and the self (Baumgartner et al. 1992; Dahl and Hoeffler 2004). Sharing the same perspective, Keller and McGill (1994) stated that individuals evaluate the desirability of an alternative by imagining the actual experience with it and decide according to their affective response to this experience, which they call imagery heuristic.

However, for a highly innovative product, it is difficult to imagine an experience that relies on relevant past experiences (Dahl and Hoeffler 2004). This is so because, unlike a regular mass-produced product, an innovative product generally presents new contexts for which individuals cannot easily draw on relevant past experiences (Dahl and Hoeffler 2004), which makes it more difficult to mentally simulate the uses of that product (Zhao et al. 2017). In support of this, recent research has demonstrated that the extent of mental

simulation vividness regarding a virtually presented product is contingent on the way individuals interact with that product (Escalas 2004). The decreased likelihood of resemblance between the innovative product and the individual's self-related aspects leads to a tendency to perceive less fit with the product. The challenge of not having prior relevant experience with the product increases the significance of the product presentation format impact on imagery performance and, thus, product fit evaluation. In indicating a potential for remediation, Schlosser (2003) demonstrated that interactive product presentation has a significant positive impact on mental imagery performance. In support of this finding, a recent study by Liu et. al (2019) empirically justified the significant positive impact of having the opportunity to interact with a product in a virtual environment through both spatial and haptic imagery performances.

In line with these findings, the theory of resonance states that interaction with an object (i.e., an innovative product) improves the chance that the audience will resonate with that object by "potentially revising people's desires and imagining of what is possible" (McDonnell et al. 2017, p. 4). Therefore, the theory of resonance posits that interactivity may have the potential to create an impact on people's desires and facilitate their imagination about the possibilities related to the object (i.e., innovative product) being presented. In light of this discussion and based on the abovementioned literature, I hypothesize that the more interactive a product innovation idea is, the more imaginative the audience will be about the aspects of the product that fit their personal desires and taste. Thus:

H1: Higher interactivity of a product presentation medium is positively associated with perceived product fit.

3.2.3. Perceived Product Familiarity

In this study, perceived product familiarity refers to the perceived extent of the product-related informedness, experience, and knowledge accumulated by the audience (Alba and Hutchinson 1987; Kennedy et al. 2001). It is challenging to gain familiarity with a highly innovative product due to the newness of its technology and the benefits offered (Chandy and Tellis 1998). Since familiarity perception is a major facilitator of persuasion (Pan et al. 2020), entrepreneurs provide video pitches and photographs of the product beside text descriptions in order to create familiarity and convince the audience (i.e., potential backers).

When the presented product is highly innovative, the ability of the audience to evaluate its physical informational cues on online platforms is very limited in comparison with direct experience (Wells et al. 2011). This situation hinders the process of gaining knowledge about such a product. As a semi-immersive and interactive product presentation technology, VPE gives a closer sense to direct product experience (Daugherty and Biocca 2005; Klein 1998). This direct-like, more realistic experience emerges through a higher perception of informedness (Li et al. 2002), making the user of the platform feel that they have greater product knowledge following the 3D virtual experience in comparison with being exposed to a non-interactive presentation. VPE also leads to a higher perceived trialability of the offered features (Daugherty and Biocca 2005), with improved product learning outcomes (Daugherty et al. 2008; Suh and Lee 2005). As perceived familiarity

refers to the extent of perceived informedness, accumulated experience, and knowledge, it is reasonable to suggest that higher interactivity would help in overcoming the limits of the online presentation mediums by facilitating familiarity through increased informedness, trialability, and learning with a highly innovative product for which no prior experience has been accumulated.

Through the lenses of the theory of resonance, however, familiarity emerges through interaction as a processual cognitive work that inspires practical problem-solving (McDonnell et al. 2017). Therefore, the theory also advocates for the faciliatory effect of interactivity on cognitive resonance. Based on this line of reasoning and the literature, I hypothesize that higher interactivity in presenting a highly innovative product will be positively associated with perceived familiarity with the product:

H2: Higher interactivity of a product presentation medium is positively associated with perceived product familiarity with the presented product.

3.2.4. Perceived Product Innovativeness

As discussed in the previous sections, perceived product innovativeness is contingent not only on the extent of novelty but also the extent of the meaningfulness of the product from the perspective of the intended audience (Fang 2008; Sethi et al. 2001). Highly innovative products are mostly novel and significantly different from existing alternatives (Ciganek and Zahedi 2004). However, if the product does not align with the audience's expectations, wants, and needs, then it will be perceived as awkward, odd, or strange (Jackson and Messick 1965). Rindova and Petkova (2007) demonstrated that the perceived

value, and thus meaningfulness (Andrews and Smith 1996), of an innovation emerges through the cognitive congruence and emotional fit of the innovation with its intended audience. Indeed, existing alternatives shape the audience's expectations, and the factors that best align with these expectations would be perceived as more valuable and meaningful. Based on the inspiration gained from the theory of resonance, this thesis study hypothesizes that resonance between the innovative product and the audience addresses the perceived meaningfulness of an innovation from multiple perspectives.

As discussed in Section 3.1.1, resonance is a bipartite concept with cognitive and emotional aspects. In this thesis study, the emotional aspect of resonance is operationalized as the perceived fit of the product with the audience's identity through personal tastes, desires, and preferences (Giorgi 2017; Pratt 2000). The cognitive aspect is operationalized as the perceived familiarity of the product (Giorgi 2017). Therefore, a higher perceived fit would be an indicator of higher emotional resonance, and higher perceived familiarity would be an indicator of higher cognitive resonance, which would inform a better alignment of an innovative product with the emotional and cognitive expectations of the audience. As better cognitive and emotional alignment is positively associated with higher perceived meaningfulness and value (Rindova and Petkova 2007), and higher value anticipation has a strong positive association with the perceived innovativeness of the product (Zhang et al. 2016), higher resonance may be expected to be positively associated with perceived product innovativeness.

From another perspective through the resonance marketing hypothesis, differentiation will be appreciated when it resonates with the audience. As the target

audience's value appreciation leads to higher product innovativeness perception (Zhang et al. 2016), the resonance marketing hypothesis also supports the argument that both higher cognitive resonance and higher emotional resonance will be positively associated with product innovativeness perception. Thus, I hypothesize as follows:

H3: Higher perceived product fit is positively associated with the perceived innovativeness of that product.

H4: Higher perceived familiarity with a product is positively associated with the perceived innovativeness of that product.

3.2.5. Product Type

According to the nature of aroused audience attitude, a product can be evaluated from a bi-dimensional perspective that accounts for hedonic and utilitarian appeal (Batra and Ahtola 1991). Almost every product has both hedonic and utilitarian appeal, albeit in different proportions⁴ (Batra and Ahtola 1991). The hedonic component is related to affective consummatory gratification, such as the appeal of ice cream (Crowley et al. 1992). Such products are appealing as a result of the *sensations* that arise from the product experience, such as fun, enjoyment, and excitement (Voss et al. 2003). Conversely, the utilitarian component focuses on functional attributes and instrumental expectations that may be exemplified by the satisfaction provided by a personal computer (Crowley et al.

⁴ Throughout this thesis, the term "hedonic product" refers to a product whose hedonic appeal is more dominant than its utilitarian appeal. Similarly, the term "utilitarian product" refers to a product whose utilitarian appeal is more dominant than its hedonic appeal.

1992). Such products are appealing through their *functions*, which may be evaluated by the extent of their effectiveness, usefulness, necessity, and practicality (Voss et al. 2003).

The proposed research model accounts for both the cognitive and emotional alignment of an innovative product with its audience through interactive presentation mediums. The strength of this relationship may depend on the hedonic/utilitarian appeal of the product under evaluation. One research study demonstrated that the hedonic/utilitarian appeal of a product moderates the relationship between product experience and the emotional response (i.e., arousal) to that experience (Kempf 1999). This finding shows that during product experience, the degree of emotional arousal is higher for a hedonic product than it is for a utilitarian product.

A more recent study has suggested that the target audience engages in more intense cognitive information processing while evaluating a utilitarian product but performs more affective processing for a hedonic product (Melnyk et al. 2012). As cognitive resonance refers to the perceived extent of product-related informedness, experience, and knowledge (i.e., perceived product familiarity), it would be reasonable to hypothesize that higher cognitive processing facilitated by the dominant utilitarian appeal of a product would strengthen the impact mechanism of interactivity on enhancing cognitive resonance (i.e., perceived product familiarity). On the other hand, the impact of interactivity on facilitating emotional resonance (i.e., perceived product fit), which refers to the perceived fit of a product with the audience's desires, tastes, and affective preferences, might be stronger for a product whose appeal mechanism is mostly affection arousal through sensations—that is, a product with hedonic appeal. Stated differently, the impact of interactivity on facilitating

cognitive resonance would be stronger for a product with a higher utilitarian appeal capacity, which would facilitate more intense cognitive processing compared with a product whose utilitarian appeal is lower. Likewise, the impact of interactivity on facilitating emotional resonance would be stronger for a product with a higher hedonic appeal capacity, which would facilitate more intense affective processing in comparison with a product whose hedonic appeal is lower. Thus, I hypothesize as follows:

H5a: Product type positively moderates the relationship between interactivity and perceived product fit, such that the effect is stronger for a product higher in hedonic appeal than for another lower in hedonic appeal.

H5b: Product type positively moderates the relationship between interactivity and perceived product familiarity, such that the effect is stronger for a product higher in utilitarian appeal than for another lower in utilitarian appeal.

Chapter 4: Research Methodology

To test the research model and proposed hypotheses, I designed a single-factor experiment for two products, one of which was a hedonic-dominant product and the other a utilitarian-dominant product. According to Batra and Ahtota (1991), every product is both hedonic and utilitarian but in different proportions. Given the perceptual, not objective, nature of hedonic and utilitarian dominant appeal and the literature on measuring both hedonic and utilitarian extents of products consistently showing that all products reflect a mixture of both appeals (e.g., Crowley et al. 1992; Voss et al. 2003), the experiment did not include control conditions for non-hedonic or non-utilitarian products.

To test the impact of interactive product presentation on the perceived innovativeness of the products through the mediation of perceived fit and perceived familiarity, as depicted in Figure 1, I had two product presentation web pages, one interactive product presentation and one non-interactive, designed for each product, making four fictitious product presentation web pages in total.

4.1. Design of the Fictitious Product Presentation Web Pages

Following Steuer's (1992, p.80) definition, which states that the extent of interactivity of an environment refers to "the degree to which users of the medium can influence the form or content of the mediated environment," the treatments were manipulated in terms of the participants' ability to interact with the presented products. To test the proposed research model for each product type, I designed two fictitious web pages displaying the same fictitious innovative product with differing interactivity levels. All treatments provided the same depth and breadth of information about the fictitious products to avoid unintended confounding effects that would threaten the validity of the findings, such that

• **Interactive Hedonic (I-H):** Participants were not provided with a 3D interactive model of the product and could interact with the visual presentation of the hedonic product through the use of a mouse and trigger the hedonic features of the product by clicking on the annotation and animation buttons provided.

• Interactive Utilitarian (I-U): Participants were provided with a 3D interactive model of the product and could interact with the visual presentation of the utilitarian product

35

through the use of a mouse and trigger the utilitarian features of the product by clicking on the annotation and animation buttons provided.

• Non-Interactive Hedonic (N-H): Participants were not provided with a 3D interactive model of the product but with a video of the visual representation and hedonic features of the product.

• Non-Interactive Utilitarian (N-U): Participants were not provided with a 3D interactive model of the product but with a video of the visual representation and utilitarian features of the product.

More specifically, the non-interactive web pages (N-H and N-U) presented a text description, photographs, and a video pitch that provided a rotating view of the product, product functionalities, and product features for the participants to evaluate. On these web pages, the participants did not interact with the products. Instead, they received product-related information through video pitches playing continuously. The video pitches played automatically when they were visible on the participants' displays and paused automatically when they navigated to another part of the page. The video would resume when the participant scrolled back to it on the page to enable the user to see every visual and functional aspect of the product. These web pages provided a medium equivalent to those of current online entrepreneurship platforms, which, in this thesis study, resulted in a significantly low product–participant interactivity perception in the participants' perceived interactivity assessment.

Furthermore, the interactive web pages (I-H and I-U) provided the participants with the same text description and photographs, presenting exactly the same content as the non-

interactive web pages. However, instead of the video, which provided the rotating view of the product, product functionalities, and features on the non-interactive web pages, a 3D interactive model of the product was placed on the interactive web pages. The 3D model provided the participants with the opportunity to visually interact with the presented products by dragging them to rotate 360° as well as using the mouse to zoom in and zoom. The 3D models also enabled the participants to functionally interact with the products by activating product functionalities and learn product features by clicking on the buttons provided on the model. As the videos were rendered by using the 3D model of the products, the information provided by the video and the 3D model was exactly the same. The difference lay only in the existence, or lack thereof, of the opportunity to interact with the product to receive the same set of information and access the product view.

The ability to visually interact with a product in a 3D space improves the feeling of directness, with a decreased distance between the user's (i.e., audience's) intention to manipulate the product and the medium's response to that input (Hutchins et al. 1985). Furthermore, the impact of visual interactivity on the sense of immersion is closely related to whether the system realistically responds to the incoming signals (Steuer 1992). To minimize potential confounding effects with equally vivid and equal-sized representations of the product, all web pages ensured a smooth experience that was reactive to user input with negligibly small latency (Galletta et al. 2004). In addition, following Degeratu's (2000) finding—that the size of a product under examination on an online platform has an impact on the reaction of online examiners—the initially presented size of the products was kept the same for all four treatments.

To evaluate the moderating effect of product type (hedonic/utilitarian) on the strength of the interactivity-resonance relationships, the treatments included two products, one of which was hedonic and the other utilitarian. Inspired by Hassenzahl et al. (2008), where an mp3 player was designed in two ways (one hedonic and the other utilitarian), I chose the hedonic and utilitarian products from the same category so as to prevent confounding effects due to differences related to product category.

I chose the hedonic and utilitarian products of the experiment to be artificially intelligent. The motivation behind choosing artificially intelligent devices in this experiment was the fact that although smart devices have become more pervasive in the last decade, artificially intelligent devices are still not a native part of our daily lives. Using such devices imposes a multifaceted change initiative with technological, social, and emotional dimensions (Gursoy et al. 2019). I thought that a device that triggered such a multidimensional change in the audience's life would be a good candidate for investigating the impact of interactivity on both cognitive and emotional dimensions. Moreover, an AI product can be designed in various ways to have hedonic or utilitarian appeal for the audience.

The hedonic AI-enabled shoe was designed as a sensitive companion that reacts to how its owner feels throughout the day. Named "Smartie," the AI-enabled shoes are advertised as having a wearable display on their surface. The shoe continuously monitors the metabolism speed of its user as an indicator of the user's mood and changes the animation on its display accordingly. It can sense three moods, which are excited, happy, and sad, and displays by default three pre-chosen surface animations assigned to each of

these moods (see Figure 4-1). The user has the option of uploading any other animation of their choice to display for each of these moods and may display a single animation for all moods if they do not want to reveal their mood to others.

In addition to these three animations, three of the shoe's features are advertised on the shoe model: flexible display, Bluetooth and Wi-Fi connectivity, and wireless charging. Smartie was designed as the hedonic product of this experiment based on the fact that the dominant appeal of these AI-enabled shoes was related to their design and outlook and not the functionality, which may provide a utilitarian benefit to the user.



Figure 4-1- Default Outlook of Smartie (From Left to Right: Excited, Sad, Happy)

The interactive web page presenting Smartie, the hedonic shoe, was designed with a text description, photographs, and an interactive 3D model of the product. The model displays the product and provides the opportunity for the participant to drag and rotate the product, zoom in and out using the mouse wheel, click on each of the three annotation buttons displaying each of the three features (flexible display, connectivity, wireless charging), and click on the animation buttons to play each of the three animations associated with each mood sensed by the shoe. When the participant first enters the page, the product is displayed as a blue sneaker, which starts to display the chosen animation on the wearable

display covering the outer face of the shoe when an animation button is clicked (see Figure 4-2).



Figure 4-2- Screen Shot of 3D Model on the Hedonic Shoe Interactive Web Page

In this model, the participant may activate the animations by clicking on the animation buttons and view product features by clicking on the annotation buttons. In Figure 4-3, the animation buttons can be seen in the bottom right corner of the window, and the annotation buttons can be seen on the 3D model of the product (transparent circles).



Figure 4-3- Screen Shot of the 3D Model on the Interactive Hedonic Shoe Web Page (The happiness animation button on the right is clicked, and the connectivity annotation button on the shoe model is clicked.)

The non-interactive web page presenting Smartie was designed with the same text description and photographs as the interactive page; however, on the non-interactive page, the 3D interactive model was replaced by a video of the product. The video presents Smartie by displaying a 360 rotating view of the product, then zooming in and out, then displaying the three features mentioned in the previous paragraph one by one (flexible display, wireless charging, and connectivity) (see Figure 4-4), and then displaying the default animations assigned to each of the moods—excitement, sadness, and happiness—one by one without interaction from the participant (see Figure 4-5). The video plays continuously and starts over from the beginning as long as the participant stays on the page and views the video window.



Figure 4-4- Screen Shot of the Video on the Non-Interactive Hedonic Shoe Page (Each of the annotation buttons is activated one by one in the video without participant interaction.)



Figure 4-5- Screen Shot of the Video on the Non-Interactive Hedonic Shoe Page while the Video is Displaying the Animation Assigned to Sadness in the Default Configuration

Contrary to Smartie, the utilitarian AI-enabled shoe is a functional companion that corrects any balance or weight distribution issues with users' feet that may be caused by probation or supination (see Figure 4-6). Named "Cushy," these AI-enabled shoes have multiple extremely sensitive sensors inside the sole that measure the weight distribution of the user's feet and dynamically and seamlessly adjust the inclination (slope) of the sole to correct imbalance. The shoe senses any change in the weight distribution, even during daily use, and adjusts itself accordingly. The shoe has the ability to control a large number of microchambers in the sole, each of which is liquid-filled and controlled to incline the fluid toward the side that needs support. This allows the sole to adjust in such a way that it corrects pronation or supination, and each foot is assessed independently, which means that there are three product functionalities: One corrects pronation, another supination, and the last is neutral for healthy feet that do not have a pronation or supination problem.



Figure 4-6- Correction for Pronation and Supination

In addition to these three functionalities, the shoe is designed to have three features: auto-adjusting sole, Bluetooth and Wi-Fi connectivity, and wireless charging. With the appearance of an ordinary blue sneaker, Cushy was designed as the utilitarian product in this experiment based on the fact that the dominant appeal of this AI-enabled shoe was

related to its functionality, not its style or color, which may represent a more hedonic benefit for the user.

The interactive web page presenting Cushy, the utilitarian shoe, was designed with a text description, photographs, and an interactive 3D model of the product. Similar to the hedonic interactive web page, this model displays the product and provides the opportunity to drag and rotate it, to click on each of the three annotation buttons displaying each of the three features (auto-adjusting sole, connectivity, wireless charging), and click on the animation buttons to play each of the three animations (pronation, supination, and neutral) associated with each issue or neutral situation detected by the shoe. When the participant first enters the page, the product is displayed in its neutral form (see Figure 4-7), which starts to display how the auto-adjusting sole reacts based on which animation button is clicked.



Figure 4-7- Screen Shot of 3D Model on the Utilitarian Shoe Interactive Web Page

In this model, as in the hedonic interactive web page, the participant may activate the animations by clicking on the animation buttons and view product features by clicking on the annotation buttons. The annotation buttons can be seen on the 3D model of the product (transparent circles) in Figure 4-8, and the animation buttons can be seen in the bottom right corner of the window in Figure 4-9.



Figure 4-8- Screen Shot of the 3D Model on the Interactive Utilitarian Shoe Web Page (The pronation animation button on the right is clicked.)



Figure 4-9- Screen Shot of the 3D-Model on the Interactive Utilitarian Shoe Web Page (The wireless charging annotation button on the shoe model is clicked.)

The non-interactive web page presenting Cushy was designed with the same text description and photographs as the interactive page; however, on the non-interactive page, the 3D interactive model was replaced by a video of the product. The video presents Cushy by displaying a 360 rotating view of it, then zooming in and out, then displaying the three features mentioned in the previous paragraph one by one (auto-adjusting sole, wireless charging, and connectivity) (see Figure 4-10), and then displaying the action taken for each of the situations (i.e., pronation, supination, and neutral) by the shoe sole one by one without any interaction from the participant (Figure 4-11). The video plays continuously and starts over from the beginning as long as the participant stays on the page and views the video window.



Figure 4-10- Screen Shot of the Video on the Non-Interactive Utilitarian Shoe Page (Each of the annotation buttons is activated one by one in the video without participant interaction.)



Figure 4-11- Screen Shot of the Video on the Non-Interactive Utilitarian Shoe Page while the Video is Displaying the Correction for Supination

Considering the between-subjects nature of the experiment and following the design of the four web pages, two interaction monitoring analytics functions were embedded on the web pages. Without changing the anonymity of the data collection and with the approval of the McMaster Research Ethics Board, the first function monitored the number of clicks each participant made on the 3D model, while the second function monitored the length of time the participants spent on the experimental product web page. These two functions proved to be very useful in terms of identifying the sources of low-quality data and modifying the experimental design accordingly to achieve an acceptable data quality level. How these functions were used is explained in detail in the next section.

4.2. Pilot Study

The participants of this thesis study were sampled among regular people who did not necessarily have prior experience with online entrepreneurship platforms so as to improve the generalizability of the findings.

Following the design of the web pages for each treatment and the embedding of the analytics functions, the first pilot study was conducted to a) confirm the effectiveness of the instructions provided to the participants and b) confirm that the "hedonic" products were perceived as more hedonic and less utilitarian and that the "utilitarian" products were perceived as more utilitarian and less hedonic. This pilot experiment was conducted with 35 participants recruited through a market research firm. After the consent form was displayed and accepted, the participants were informed that their seriousness in following the instructions throughout the experiment was crucial for the validity of the data they provided. Despite this warning, the analytics data revealed that more than 66% of the

participants spent less than 15 seconds on the experimental product web pages and that only a few of those assigned to the interactive web pages actually interacted with these pages. The length of time spent on the page revealed the fact that the participants were not spending enough time on the experiment to enable them to read the information provided on the web pages. Moreover, as the videos on the non-interactive web pages were about 40 seconds long, the time spent on the experiment was not enough for the participants assigned to the non-interactive web pages to watch the videos. These observations formed the basis of the second pilot study.

In the second pilot study, following recommendations by Huang et al. (2012) on the positive impact of warning messages in decreasing careless response rate, the experimental scenario was updated to inform the participants more clearly about the assessments regarding the quality of their participation. In this pilot study, they were also informed that they would be asked a product-related question in the survey before they could actually participate in the experiment. The findings did not differ those of the first pilot. The participants did not follow the instructions of the online experiment, but when they reached the survey at the end of the experiment, they spent enough time on the survey so as not to be marked as a speeder (i.e., careless responder).

Based on the findings of the second pilot study, I embedded specific analytics functions on each product presentation web page (hedonic-interactive, hedonic-non interactive, utilitarian-interactive, utilitarian-non interactive) to ensure that only the participants who spent at least a certain length of time reading the texts on the web page (60 seconds), watched the video on the non-interactive web pages, or clicked on the interactive model multiple times on the interactive web pages were directed to the survey at the end of the experiment.

The third pilot was conducted with 35 participants across the four treatments. The sample size was not enough to run ANOVA analysis to assess the significance of the differences between treatments. Therefore, I calculated the averages of the Hedonic, Utilitarian and Interactivity measures as a preliminary observation. The sample sizes and arithmetic averages of the Hedonic, Utilitarian and Interactivity measures of each treatment is summarized in Table 4-1, and the averages with respect to each treatment variable are summarized in Table 4-2, and Table 4-3. According to these findings, I had sufficient confidence that the treatments would work.

Treatment	Sample Size	Hedonic _{AVG}	Utilitarian _{AVG}	Interactivity _{AVG}
I-H	8	5.8	4.43	3.88
N-H	9	5.56	4.26	1.96
I-U	10	4.92	5.49	3.54
N-U	8	5.4	5.85	2.33

 Table 4-1: Pilot Study Sample Sizes and Treatment Measure Averages

 Table 4-2: Pilot Study Interactivity Treatment Measure Averages

Interactivity Treatment	Sample Size	Interactivity _{AVG}
Interactive (I-H & I-U)	18	3.69
Non-Interactive (N-H & N-U)	17	2.13

Hedonic/Utilitarian Treatment	Sample Size	Hedonic _{AVG}	Utilitarian _{AVG}
Smarty (I-H & N-H)	17	5.67	4.34
Cushy (I-U & N-U)	18	5.13	5.65

Table 4-3: Pilot Study Hedonic/Utilitarian Treatment Measure Averages

4.3. Main Study

Following the ethics approval of the McMaster Research Ethics Board, a market research firm recruited the participants and rewarded them at the end of their participation at the end of their participation according to their own payment policy and agreement with their participants. To improve the generalizability of the findings, the firm sampled the participants among regular people who did not necessarily have prior experience with online entrepreneurship platforms.

Assuming an equal number of participants for each treatment, the sample size for a statistical power of 0.80 to detect a medium effect size (f = 0.25) with an α of 0.05 was 180 participants (45 participants for each web page) (Cohen 1988). Considering that online surveys are more susceptible to careless responding in comparison with paper and pencil surveys due to lowered interaction between the administrators and the participants, higher distraction possibility, and lower participant interest (Ward and Pond 2015), I decided to collect a greater number of samples for each treatment. As this was a between-subjects experiment, it was very important to ensure that the participants spent a sufficient amount of time both on examining the experimental product web pages and answering the survey.

Indeed, identifying careless responders through attention-check questions is a method suggested by many scholars (e.g., Meade and Craig 2012; Ward and Meade 2018). Therefore, in addition to the product-related question assessing the participants' attention during the experiment, I inserted an attention-check question toward the end of the survey to assess the participants' attention in responding to the survey questions. The criteria for identifying responses of high quality were as follows:

- The attention-check question was answered correctly in the survey, ensuring a sufficient level of attention in responding to the survey questions.
- At least two of the four features of the presented product were selected correctly in the survey, ensuring a sufficient level of attention in examining the experimental product presentation web page.

The experiment was launched multiple times until a sufficient amount of sample data were collected. As multiple assessments had been applied to extract high-quality data, it was not possible to stop collecting data when the exact sample size was reached for each treatment. As a result of the last launch, the total number of sufficient quality data had been 64 for the treatments I-H and N-U and 65 for the other treatments (N-H, I-U), for a total of 258 participants. As the minimum target sample size for each treatment (45) was exceeded for all treatments, all valid data were used in the data analysis.

4.4. Experimental Procedure

The participants were randomly assigned to one of the four treatments.

The participants progressed through the experiment as follows.

1. The participants were assigned to one of the four treatments.

2. The participants were first presented with the consent page, which informed them about the study (<u>Appendix A</u>). Those who agreed to participate in the study were directed to the corresponding Experimental Scenario web page.

3. The experimental scenario web page informed the participants about what they were expected to do in the upcoming experimental product presentation web page (Appendix B).

4. Once the participants had read the scenario page and clicked "Next," one of the four experimental product presentation web pages was displayed.

a. The participants in the first treatment (I-H) were directed to the "Smartie" interactive web page (<u>Appendix C</u>).

b. The participants in the second treatment (I-U) were directed to the "Cushy" interactive web page (Appendix E).

c. The participants in the third treatment (N-H) were directed to the "Smartie" non-interactive web page (<u>Appendix D</u>).

d. The participants in the fourth treatment (N-U) were directed to the "Cushy" non-interactive web page (<u>Appendix F</u>).

5. As the participants navigated their assigned experimental product presentation web page, the total amount of time spent on the page and the total number of clicks made on the page were collected. The collected data were used to assess the sufficiency of the participation of each participant. The criteria were as follows:

a. Spending at least one minute on the assigned experimental product presentation web page.

b. Only in interactive treatments (I-H and I-U), clicking on the 3D interactive model at least four times.

6. Once a participant completed their examination and clicked the "Next" button at the bottom of the experimental product presentation web page,

a. The participant was directed to the survey web page if they were in one of the non-interactive treatments (N-H and N-U) and spent at least 1 minute on their experimental product presentation web page.

b. The participant was directed to the survey web page if they were in one of the interactive treatments (I-H and I-U), spent at least one minute on their experimental product presentation web page, and clicked at least four times on the 3D interactive model. (Participants who followed the instructions given right above the interactive models finished their examination with at least 7 mouse clicks.)

7. Upon completion of the survey, the participants were directed to the portal of the market research firm.

4.5. Measures

To ensure content validity, the constructs were measured using established item scales. Interactivity perception was measured using the three-item perceived interactivity scale by Yi et al. (2015). Perceived product fit scale was adapted from Hong and Pavlou's (2014) five-item perceived product fit uncertainty scale. In its original form, the scale identifies the indicators of product fit and probes the extent to which the participant is certain about the product's fulfillment of each product fit indicator. I adapted the items to directly

54

ask the extent to which the product fulfills each product fit indicator instead of asking about the uncertainty in fulfilling each indicator (e.g., "I was certain that the product would match my tastes" became "The product matches my tastes"; "I was sure the product would fit my preference" became "The product fits my preference"). Perceived product familiarity was measured using the three-item product familiarity scale by Kennedy et al. (2001). Perceived product innovativeness was adapted from a five-item scale by Gatignon et al. (2002). Lastly, the perceived hedonic dominancy of Smartie and the perceived utilitarian dominancy of Cushy were measured using the hedonic/utilitarian scale by Voss et al. (2003). For all the constructs, the previous studies are used as the basis to determine the scale. Interactivity is measured using 5-point scale, and the other variables are measured using 7-point scale. Using different point scales is suggested as a remedy for common method bias (Jordan and Troth 2020). A list of the measurement items is presented in <u>Appendix G</u>.

4.6. Model Validation

AMOS covariance-based structural equation modelling (SEM) was used to validate the proposed research model. SEM enables the researcher to discover relationships among multiple latent variables by reducing the error in the research model (Hair Jr. et al. 2016). Moreover, the covariance model allows the optimization of correlations among the constructs of the model simultaneously (Bagozzi and Yi 2012; Hair Jr. et al. 2014), making this method a better option to analyze covariance-based data.

I evaluated the research model fit by conducting measurement model fit assessment and structural model fit assessment processes using the IBM SPSS 28, and IBM SPSS AMOS 28 statistical software tools. A detailed analysis of the data and research model is

provided in Chapter 5. The tests conducted for the measurement model are summarized in Table 4-4, and the tests conducted for the structural model are summarized in Table 4-5.

Analysis	Test	Note		
Item Reliability	Item loadings	 Acceptance criterion: Value > 0.50 (Gefen et al. 2000) 		
Construct	Cronbach's alpha	 Acceptance criterion: Value > 0.70 (Cronbach 1951) 		
Reliability	ty Composite reliability • Acc (Be ent CFA • Acc ACC Ioa	 Acceptance criterion: Value > 0.60 (Bernstein and Nunnally 1994) 		
Convergent Validity	CFA	 Acceptance criteria: GFI > .90, NFI > .90, AGFI > .80 (or >.90). In addition, item loadings should be above .707 (Gefen et al. 2000) 		
Discriminant Validity	AVE vs. squared correlations	 Acceptance criterion: The square root of the AVE of the construct must be greater than the correlation between that construct and any other construct in the model (Barclay et al. 1995; Fornell and Larcker 1981) 		
	Bivariate correlations	 Acceptance criterion: bivariate correlations should be less than .80 (Meyers et al. 2006) 		
Multicollinearity	VIF and tolerance values	 Acceptance criteria: Tolerance values should be greater than .10, and VIF values should be less than 10. 		

Table 4-4: Summary of Test for the Measurement Model Fit Assessments

Table 4-5: Summary of Test for the Structural Model Fit Assessments

Test	Calculation	Note
Goodness of	Absolute Fit	 Acceptance criteria: insignificant χ², RMSEA > .05, SRMR < .05
Fit	Comparative Fit	 Acceptance criteria: NFI > .95, TLI > .97, GFI > .95, CFI > .97

Path coefficients, their signs, and significance	Obtained from IBM SPSS AMOS, version 28	The coefficients and significance of the paths were evaluated through bootstrapping
R ² values of endogenous variables	Obtained from IBM SPSS AMOS, version 28	R^2 values of the endogenous variables should be at least .10 (Falk and Miller 1992)

Following the measurement and structural model fit assessments, the following post-hoc analyses were conducted to assess the significance of the manipulations among the treatments.

- ANOVA analysis was conducted to verify the significance of the interactivity manipulation between the interactive (I-H and I-U) and non-interactive (N-H and N-U) treatments.
- 2. ANOVA analysis was conducted to verify the significance of the hedonic/utilitarian manipulation between the hedonic-dominant (I-H and N-H) and the utilitarian-dominant (I-U and N-U) treatments.
- 3. The effect of the control variables on the dependent variables was examined.
- 4. The interactivity plots for the moderating effect of hedonic/utilitarian product appeal were examined to analyze whether they had a significant impact on the hypothesized relationships between interactivity and resonance.

Chapter 5: Data Analysis and Results

5.1. Data Screening

Following the data collection, as detailed in Section 4.3, I conducted a series of data screening assessments on the resulting data set to verify the validity and accuracy of the measurement instruments, analyses, and results using IBM SPSS Statistics, version 28.

5.1.1. Outliers and Missing Values

Outliers may threaten the accuracy of statistical findings when they cause the sample to deviate from the target population (Osborne and Overbay 2004). Outliers may be observed on a single variable (univariate) or group of variables (multivariate) (Meyers et al. 2006). First, I created the composite score of each variable (i.e., construct) by calculating the mean of the variable's individual item indicators. I drew box plots of each composite score using the IBM SPSS Statistics tool, version 28. Following Meyers et al. (2006), I identified individual cases outside 1.5 times the inter-quartile range (IQR) as mild outliers and those outside 3 times the inter-quartile range (IQR) as extreme outliers. Overall, a total of 14 cases were identified as being outside the mild outlier fences. Among the identified cases, ID 99 was an extreme outlier in the perceived familiarity construct, and among the remaining cases, ID 239, ID 61, and ID 91 were mild outliers in multiple constructs and were removed from the data set.

In addition to the univariate outlier analysis, I examined the Mahalanobis distance statistics to identify the multivariate outliers (Meyers et al. 2006). In this examination, the Mahalanobis distance was calculated for each case and compared with the chi-square

distribution based on the p-value of .001. In this case, an individual case would be considered a multivariate outlier if its Mahalanobis distance was above .001. The results of this analysis indicated that the only multivariate outlier in the data set was ID 99, which was identified as an extreme univariate outlier. As a result of these two analyses, 4 outliers were removed from the data set (ID 99, ID 239, ID 61, and ID 91).

Following the univariate outlier analysis, I conducted a missing value analysis on the final data set. As none of the constructs had more than 2% missing values, I removed no additional data. Based on the fact that all the latent variables were measured using ordinal (not continuous) values, I replaced the missing item values with their median values within the data set (Acuña and Rodriguez 2004).

5.1.2. Normality Analysis

Covariance-based SEM assumes the data to be normally distributed (Jr et al. 2017). I conducted Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests to check the validity of this assumption. Although both test results indicated that the data collected for all the items were non-normally distributed, the histograms demonstrated skewed normal-like distributions for most of the items. Based on this observation, the kurtosis and skewness of each item were assessed to identify whether all the scales fell inside the range of -1 to +1, which is considered an acceptable range for normality assessments (Hair et al. 2019). Based on the verification that the kurtosis and skewness of each item was within the acceptable range, and research stating that some non-normality in individual items does not necessarily threaten multivariate normality (Gorsuch 1983), I decided to include all the items for further analysis.

5.2. Demographics

According to the participant responses, out of 258 participants, 129 were male, and 129 were female. The participants were aged 18 or older. Their age ranges and the number of participants in each range are given in Table 5-1.

Age Range	Frequency	Percentage
18–35	42	16.3%
35-65	95	44.4%
65+	121	39.3%

Table 5-1: Age Distribution of Participants

In addition to questions of gender and age, the participants were asked to indicate their highest levels of education and experience on online entrepreneurship platforms. The education level statistics indicate that 26.7% of the participants had a high school diploma, 41.1% had a bachelor's degree, 24.4% had a master's degree, 5.8% had a doctoral degree, and 1.9% preferred not to answer the question, as shown in Table 5-2.

Variable	Category	Frequency	Percentage
Education	High school diploma	69	26.7%
	Bachelor's degree	106	41.1%
	Master's degree	63	24.4%
	Doctoral degree	15	5.8%
	Prefer not to answer	5	1.9%

Table 5-2 Education Level of Participants

The participants were also asked about their level of experience using online entrepreneurship platforms. According to their responses, 32.9% of them were not experienced on such platforms at all, 17.8% were somewhat inexperienced, 11.2% were

neither experienced nor inexperienced, 30.2% were somewhat experienced, and 7.8% were very experienced (see Table 5-3).

Variable	Category	Frequency	Percentage
	Not experienced at all	85	32.9%
	Somewhat inexperienced	46	17.8%
Experience	Neither experienced nor inexperienced	29	11.2%
	Somewhat experienced	78	30.2%
	Very experienced	20	7.8%

Table 5-3 Experience Level of Participants on Online Entrepreneurship Platforms

5.3. Manipulation Check

The independent variable in this study was the level of interactivity in virtually experiencing a product on a new product presentation web page. The interactive treatments (I-H and I-U) provided the opportunity to directly manipulate the presented products through visual and functional control, and the non-interactive treatments displayed the same information without any interaction between the participants and the product. The difference between the perceived interactivity levels of these two treatment groups was tested using analysis of variance (ANOVA) and assessing Cohen's D value to check whether the manipulation was successful. The ANOVA results depicted in Table 5-4 demonstrate that the participants perceived the interactivity level of the interactive web pages as significantly higher than that of the non-interactive web pages. The Cohen's D value of 0.74 supports the large effect size of the manipulation. Therefore, the interactivity manipulation was successful.

Level of Interactivity	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Std.	Std.	95 Confi Inte	5% dence rval		ANG	OVA	
		Deviation	EIIOI	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F	Sig.											
Interactive (I-H & I-U)	3.73	.83	.07	3.59	3.88															
Non- Interactive (N-H & N-U)	3.01	1.11	.10	2.82	3.21	33.04	33.04	34.58	<.001											

Table 5-4: One-Way ANOVA Analysis for Interactivity Manipulation Check

Testing for the hypothesized moderating effect of the hedonic/utilitarian dominancy of the presented product required another manipulation; consequently, the hedonic product Smartie and the utilitarian product Cushy were designed. The significance of the difference between the perceived hedonic appeal of Smartie and Cushy was tested using ANOVA and assessing Cohen's D value to check whether the manipulation was successful. The ANOVA results depicted in Table 5-5 demonstrate that the perceived hedonic appeal of Smartie was significantly higher than that of Cushy. The Cohen's D value of 0.27 supports the medium effect size of the manipulation. Therefore, the hedonic appeal manipulation was successful.

Hedonic	Mean Std.		Std.	95% Confidence Interval		ANOVA			
Appear		Deviation	EII0	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Smartie (I-H & N-H)	5.48	1.42	.13	5.23	5.73	8 78	8 78	4 74	03
Cushy (I-U & N-U)	5.11	1.29	.11	4.89	5.34	5.70	0.70	, 1	

Table 5-5: One-Way ANOVA Analysis for Hedonic Appeal Manipulation Check

The significance of the difference between the perceived utilitarian appeal of Smartie and Cushy was also tested using ANOVA and assessing Cohen's D value. The
ANOVA results depicted in Table 5-6 confirm the expectations by demonstrating that the perceived utilitarian appeal of Cushy was significantly higher than that of Smartie. The Cohen's D value of 1.04 supports the large effect size of the manipulation. Therefore, this manipulation was also successful.

Table 5-6: One-Way ANOVA Analysis for Utilitarian Appeal Manipulation Check

Utilitarian	Mean	Mean Std.		95% Confidence Interval		ANOVA			
Appeal		Deviation	LowerUpperBoundBound		Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F	Sig.	
Smartie (I-H & N-H)	4.45	1.40	.12	4.21	4.70	102.48	102.48	68.03	< .001
Cushy (I-U & N-U)	5.71	1.03	.09	5.53	5.89	102.10	102.10	00100	

Based on the above analyses, the data set was deemed ready for research model validation.

5.4. Research Model Validation

I used IBM SPSS, version 28, and IBM SPSS AMOS, version 28, to validate the research model. This section presents the measurement model, common method bias, structural model, goodness of fit, effect size, moderation hypotheses, and control variable assessments.

5.4.1. Measurement Model Assessment

The first step in validating the measurement model was assessing the indicator reliability; therefore, I examined the indicator loadings to determine whether they were above the 0.70 threshold (Fornell and Larcker 1981). Based on the theory-driven nature of

the research model, and in addition to an exploratory factor analysis (EFA) to assess the loadings and cross-loadings of the indicators on the latent constructs (Farrell and Rudd 2009), I used a first-order confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) to measure the ability of the item scales to represent the latent constructs (Featherman and Pavlou 2003). The factorability of the data was tested using the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) measure and Bartlett's test of sphericity. The Bartlett test results were significant (approximate chi-square = 6636.36, df = 325, Sig. = .000), and the overall KMO sampling adequacy index for the measurement indicators was .94, which justified the factorability of the data set and the relevance of the EFA analysis.

	INT	FIT	FAM	INN	UTL	HDN
Interactivity (INT1)	.929	.022	.025	.001	093	003
Interactivity (INT2)	.893	074	.059	008	.085	002
Interactivity (INT3)	.939	010	045	.004	.002	.020
Perceived Fit (FIT1)	020	.849	.076	.009	.027	.042
Perceived Fit (FIT2)	014	.796	.061	017	.008	.184
Perceived Fit (FIT3)	.007	.894	.046	021	056	.106
Perceived Fit (FIT4)	024	.902	.011	026	.014	081
Perceived Fit (FIT5)	050	.975	.058	.007	034	025
Perceived Familiarity (FAM1)	031	.079	.877	011	012	.034
Perceived Familiarity (FAM2)	.086	.076	.870	067	.002	.028
Perceived Familiarity (FAM3)	010	018	.947	.037	.020	113
Perceived Innovativeness (INN1)	.030	.370	099	.715	175	.020
Perceived Innovativeness (INN2)	.058	.058	044	.829	048	.057

Table 5-7 Initial Loadings and Cross Loadings of Measures

Perceived Innovativeness (INN3)	.032	.048	.017	.866	.075	048
Perceived Innovativeness (INN4)	041	253	016	.774	.052	.045
Perceived Innovativeness (INN5)	058	.012	.093	.848	.107	034
Utilitarian (UTL1)	.032	.011	.155	.070	.627	.143
Utilitarian (UTL2)	009	.246	075	.032	.759	071
Utilitarian (UTL3)	062	211	.122	.101	.907	.057
Utilitarian (UTL4)	.081	.361	155	048	.503	187
Utilitarian (UTL5)	.028	.271	103	111	.769	007
Hedonic (HDN1)	.039	104	008	.003	183	.922
Hedonic (HDN2)	.009	.018	034	.118	.037	.822
Hedonic (HDN3)	036	017	.026	.001	.094	.877
Hedonic (HDN4)	.014	.135	066	025	.159	.748
Hedonic (HDN5)	019	.090	017	033	.036	.900

Ph.D. Thesis - Z. Ozmen Tokcan; McMaster University - DeGroote School of Business

The output of the EFA analysis indicated a couple of potential problems in the data set. I conducted an iterative process to solve each issue and re-ran the EFA analysis. First, the loading of the "Utilitarian4 (necessary/unnecessary)" and "Utilitarian1 (Effective/Ineffective)" indicators on the utilitarian construct was less than the .70 threshold, while the other indicator loadings were above the threshold for their intended latent constructs. Considering the very low cross-loadings of these indicators onto other constructs, I did not eliminate the "Utilitarian1" and "Utilitarian4" indicators at this stage and conducted a CFA to assess the model fit of the indicators and constructs included in the research model.

The first run of the CFA with the model fit indices GFI = 0.852, CFI = .956, and RMSEA = .064 implied that there were opportunities for model improvement. Through an iterative assessment of the model fit indices, I identified that the "Utilitarian4," "Fit4," and "Hedonic1" indicators created model fit discrepancies by inflating the chi-square value. First, I assessed the contribution of the "Fit4" indicator ("This product is what I am looking for") to the perceived fit construct. This indicator measures due to the lack of clarity of the item statement. In relation to other perceived fit indicators assessing the fit of the product with the audience's preferences, taste, and requirements, the Fit4 indicator was less clear and more ambiguous. The data supported this argument by demonstrating strong covariance between the error terms of this indicator and the other indicators. Therefore, the Fit4 indicator was eliminated.

The Hedonic1 indicator (fun/not fun) was also identified as a source of misfit because of its augmenting impact on the chi-square value of the model. Due to the meaning similarity between the Hedonic1 (fun/not fun) indicator and the other hedonic construct indicators, namely enjoyable/unenjoyable, dull/exciting, and not thrilling/thrilling, the Hedonic1 indicator was also eliminated.

Among the utilitarian construct indicators, only excluding the Utilitarian4 (necessity/unnecessity) indicator improved the model fit indices due to its low loading on the utilitarian latent variable. I did not eliminate the Utilitarian1 indicator (effectiveness/ineffectiveness), despite its lower-than-threshold loading on its intended latent variable in terms of the significance of product effectiveness on the utilitarian appeal

of the products and the very low cross-loading of this indicator on other constructs. In the resulting CFA model, the model fit indicators were GFI = .903, CFI = .982, RMSEA = .043, SRMR = .0410, which were within the acceptable model fit ranges. The resulting final loadings and cross-loadings are presented in the following table.

	INT	FIT	FAM	INN	UTL	HDN
Interactivity (INT1)	.932	.021	.025	.003	091	017
Interactivity (INT2)	.896	073	.059	004	.084	015
Interactivity (INT3)	.941	015	046	.000	005	.029
Perceived Fit (FIT1)	019	.845	.078	.016	.038	.028
Perceived Fit (FIT2)	013	.781	.062	016	.003	.198
Perceived Fit (FIT3)	.008	.883	.047	019	053	.108
Perceived Fit (FIT5)	051	.970	.059	.009	022	028
Perceived Familiarity (FAM1)	031	.079	.879	010	014	.030
Perceived Familiarity (FAM2)	.086	.072	.871	072	006	.041
Perceived Familiarity (FAM3)	012	014	.947	.034	.023	114
Perceived Innovativeness (INN1)	.030	.365	101	.708	178	.035
Perceived Innovativeness (INN2)	.059	.061	045	.829	050	.050
Perceived Innovativeness (INN3)	.031	.052	.014	.862	.072	039
Perceived Innovativeness (INN4)	038	249	016	.788	.059	.017
Perceived Innovativeness (INN5)	058	.017	.090	.849	.108	036
Utilitarian (UTL1)	.034	.013	.157	.084	.620	.133
Utilitarian (UTL2)	013	.252	077	.029	.749	045
Utilitarian (UTL3)	063	204	.121	.106	.888	.074

Table 5-8 Final Loadings and Cross Loadings of Measures

Utilitarian (UTL5)	.025	.277	103	109	.760	.007
Hedonic (HDN2)	.020	017	031	.122	016	.865
Hedonic (HDN3)	026	063	.026	008	.022	.967
Hedonic (HDN4)	.022	.099	065	031	.101	.818
Hedonic (HDN5)	008	.051	013	028	020	.947

Ph.D. Thesis - Z. Ozmen Tokcan; McMaster University - DeGroote School of Business

Following the item reliability and CFA analysis, I used Cronbach's alpha and composite reliability to assess the reliability of the reflective constructs. The threshold value for Cronbach's alpha was .70, and the composite reliability of the reflective constructs was expected to exceed .60 (Bernstein and Nunnally 1994). As Table 5-9 demonstrates, all Cronbach's alpha (α) and composite reliability (CR) values exceeded their respective thresholds, ensuring that the construct reliability criteria were met.

Table 5-9 Reflective Construct Reliability and Validity Statistics

	α	CR	AVE	INT	FIT	FAM	INN	UTL	HDN
INT	0.91	0.91	0.773	0.879					
FIT	0.96	0.96	0.856	0.314	0.925				
FAM	0.90	0.90	0.756	0.395	0.509	0.870			
INN	0.89	0.93	0.763	0.324	0.674	0.420	0.873		
UTL	0.88	0.89	0.661	0.240	0.692	0.468	0.636	0.813	
HDN	0.94	0.95	0.810	0.320	0.699	0.453	0.677	0.652	0.900

a: Cronbach's Alpha, CR: Composite Reliability, AVE: Average Variance Extracted

To ensure convergent validity, all the constructs were measured using validated scales. For the validation assessment, I followed Gefen et al. (2000) to conduct a CFA and evaluate whether the GFI and NFI were greater than .90. The findings showed that the AGFI

was greater than .80 and that all indicator loadings were above .707 (Gefen et al. 2000). The CFA results verified the convergent validity, with the GFI = .903, AGFI = .873, NFI = .945, and all indicator loadings were above .707, as displayed in Table 5-8. Another indicator of convergent validity is the AVE of each construct exceeding the variance due to measurement error of that construct, which requires the AVE value of each construct to be greater than .50 (Au et al. 2008). The results of the measurement model analysis also verified that the AVE value of each construct exceeded .50 (Table 5-9).

Discriminant validity was also assessed through the relationship between the AVE value of each construct and its correlation with other constructs. According to Fornell and Larcker (1981) and Barclay et al. (1995), discriminant validity requires the square tool of the AVE value of each construct to be larger than the correlation between that construct and any other construct. In Table 5-9, besides the CR and AVE columns, the diagonal elements show the square roots of the AVE of the constructs, and the off-diagonal numbers represent the correlation between the constructs. According to these findings, all constructs met this requirement. Gefen and Straub (2005) argued that another indicator of discriminant validity is that the minimum difference between an item loading on its own construct and its loading on any other construct should be 0.10. Table 5-8 affirms that this criterion was also met.

Lastly, I checked for multicollinearity by assessing the correlation, VIF, and SMC values for each indicator. According to Meyers et al. (2006), bivariate correlations greater than .80 may indicate a potential multicollinearity issue. Table 5-9 shows that this was not an issue in this study. As a more advanced analysis of multicollinearity, the tolerance and VIF values were calculated to test whether all tolerance values were greater than .10 and

that the VIF values were less than 10 by setting each indicator as the dependent variable and all other indicators as independent variables in a series of multiple regressions. In these analyses, none of the tolerance values were below .10, and none of the VIF values were greater than 10, thereby implying that multicollinearity was not an issue for this specific data set (Hair Jr. et al. 2010).

5.4.2. Common Method Bias

Next, I tested the data set to ensure the absence of Common Method Bias (CMB) using two methods: Harman's One Factor Test and CFA Marker Technique (Williams et al. 2010). Following Podsakoff and Organ (1986), I conducted an EFA to assess the unrotated solution of a principal component analysis for all indicators so as to identify the existence of CMB if indicators mostly loaded on a single factor or one of the constructs accounted for more than 50% of the total variance in the data set. The unrotated principal component analysis suggested 5 factors with eigenvalues greater than 1. The first factor accounted for 48.4% of the variance and 5 factors together accounted for 78% of the variance in the data set. The eigenvalue of the last factor was 1.195. Many indicators loaded on components other than the first factor. The 48.4% variance being accounted for by the first factor is lower than the 50% threshold (Podsakoff and Organ 1986) and CMB is unlikely a concern for this data set. However, given the small difference between the variance explained by the first factor and the 50% threshold, I decided to use another technique to check for CMB.

Podsakoff (2012) recommends using CFA Marker Technique, if the source of common method bias is not known or valid measures to account for the extent of bias does not exist. In this technique, a marker variable is included in a series of SEMs which are

compared to each other to determine the extent of CMV in the data. If the model in which the loadings from the marker variable to substantive items are fixed to zero does not fit data better than the equivalent model with non-zero loadings, then CMV exists. And if the model in which estimates between substantive variables are replaced with estimates from the equivalent model that assumes no substantive-marker relationships fits the data better than the first model, then the variance biases the substantive relationships and CMB exists (Williams et al. 2010).

Following Williams et al. (2010), I implemented the CFA Marker Technique using a theoretically unrelated construct "Webpage Reliability" from the same dataset as the marker variable and implemented the four-step process to complete the analysis. First, I created the CFA model with the marker variable. Then I created the baseline model by fixing the regression weights of marker items and variances of marker item errors to values from the CFA model, variances of all variables to one, and covariances between the marker variable and each substantive variable to zero. I ran this model to record the covariances and fit indices. In the third step, I created the Method-C model (constrained model) by adding paths from the marker variable to each substantive item and constraining the substantive item factor loadings from the marker variable to be equal. I ran this model to record the fit indices. In the next step, I created the Method-U model (unconstrained model) by removing the constraint on the substantive item factor loadings from the marker variable. I ran this model as well to record the fit indices of the model.

The guidelines provided by Williams et al. (2010) were followed to interpret the findings. The significant χ^2 difference between Model-C and the baseline model indicated

that there is Common Method Variance (CMV) in the dataset. The statistically significant χ^2 distance between Method-C and Method-U demonstrated that the CMV in the data does not affect each substantive variable equally and Method-U fits data significantly better than Method-C. Based on these findings, I created the Method-R model using Method-U model to check if common method variance bias any relationship in the model by fixing the substantive factor covariances to their baseline values. The comparison of Method-R with Method-U was insignificant, indicating that the CMV in the data is not biasing the substantive relationships in the model. The analysis results of the χ^2 tests are summarized in Table 5-10.

Model	χ2 (df)	CFI	RMSEA (90% CI)	LR of Δχ2	Model Comparison
CFA with marker	438.117 (254)	0.968	.053 (.044, .061)		
Baseline	519.911 (266)	0.956	.060 (.053, .068)		
Model-C	478.784 (265)	0.963	.056 (.048, .064)	41.127, <i>df</i> =1, <i>p</i> =0.00	vs. Baseline
Model-U	378.046 (244)	0.977	.046 (.037, .055)	100.738, <i>df</i> =21, <i>p</i> =0.00	vs. Model-C
Model-R	393.19 (259)	0.977	.045 (.035, .053)	15.144, <i>df</i> =15, <i>p</i> =0.44	vs. Model-U

Table 5-10: CFA Marker Technique Analysis Results

The correlations between the marker variable and the substantive variables are provided in Table 5-11. Although correlation values over .20 between the marker and the substantive variables is identified as nonideal by Simmering et al. (2015), Williams and O'Boyle's (2015) study demonstrates the effectiveness of the technique using non-ideal markers with a negligibly small error rate as it is with ideal markers. It is also important to note that the correlation values in Table 5-11 are comparable with the correlation values reported in Williams et al. (2010) method paper. Based on this literature and two methods applied in this study, I conclude that there is CMV of negligible extent in the dataset, which does not bias the structural model relationships.

Table 5-11: Marker Variable Correlation Table

	INT	FIT	FAM	INN	UTL	HDN
Marker	.206	.123	.117	.152	.329	.218

5.4.3. Structural Model Assessment

After verifying the reliability of the measurement, I assessed the predictive power of the proposed research model through a Latent Variable Path Analysis (LVPA) using IBM SPSS AMOS, version 28. To validate the structural model, multiple goodness-of-fit measures were assessed against threshold values provided in the literature.

The chi-square (χ^2) test was used to test the significance of the hypothesized relationships and the appropriateness of the proposed structural equation model. However, this test assumes multivariate normality and sufficiently large sample sizes. It may indicate a good model fit for highly complex models due to overparameterization and a bad model fit due to a large sample size (Bearden et al. 1982). Because of these shortcomings, I used descriptive goodness-of-fit measures to evaluate the model fit, in addition to χ^2 test statistics (Schermelleh-Engel et al. 2003).

One major descriptive measure of overall fit is the Root Mean Square of Error of Approximation (RMSEA) value, which mainly assesses whether the model fits well in the population through approximation (Schermelleh-Engel et al. 2003). While Steiger (1990) identify RMSEA values less than .05 as a close fit, Hu and Bentler (1999) suggested this threshold to be .06. The error of approximation, which refers to the misfit in the model and the population covariance matrix, is the main concern in this fit measure, which requires the goodness of fit to be supported by other fit indices.

The Root Mean Square Residual (RMR) is an overall model misfit indicator representing the remaining unexplained discrepancies between the sample covariance matrix and the population covariance matrix (Jöreskog and Sörbom 1981). A threshold value cannot be given for this measure to assess the badness-of-fit (Schermelleh-Engel et al. 2003). The Standardized RMR (SRMR) is introduced to overcome this problem with a rule of thumb that requires SRMR to be less than .05 to indicate a good fit (Hu and Bentler 1995).

In addition to overall model fit measures, model comparison measures can be used to assess the goodness of fit of a proposed research model. These measures compare the fit of the proposed model to some restrictive baseline model. Mostly used model comparisonbased measures are the Normed Fit Index (NFI), Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI), Comparative Fit Index (CFI) and the Goodness-of-Fit Index (GFI). The usual threshold for the NFI measure is .95 for indicating a good fit relative to the baseline model. As the NFI measure is affected by the sample size, the Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI), which is also called as Nonnormed Fit Index (NNFI), is also recommended. The threshold value for this index is .97,

while .95 is also acceptable (Schermelleh-Engel et al. 2003). The Comparative Fit Index (CFI) prevents poor fit estimations due to small sample sizes. The threshold value for this index is also .97, although .95 is also acceptable (Schermelleh-Engel et al. 2003). The Goodness-of-Fit Index, measures the extent of variance and covariance in the model-implied covariance matrix and indicates an acceptable fit when it is over .90 and a good fit when it is over .95 (Jöreskog and Sörbom 1989).

According to the results of the LVPA analysis, there was a good fit between the data and the proposed research model, with the RMSEA, SRMR, NFI, TLI, and CFI values greater than the defined goodness-of-fit thresholds, and the GFI value indicating an acceptable fit (Table 5-12). The estimate, standardized estimate, standard error, and R^2 values for each indicator, which were shown to support the validity of the structural model, are provided in Table 5-13.

Goodnes	s-of-Fit Indicator	Good Fit Criterion	Estimate
lte	χ2(df)	n.s.	173.7 (117)
ssolu Fit	RMSEA	< .05	.044
	SRMR	< .05	.033
ve	NFI	> .95	.95
arati	TLI	> .97	.98
mpa Fi	GFI	> .95	.93
ŭ	CFI	> .97	.98

Table 5-12 Goodness-of-Fit Measures

Variable	Measure	Estimate	S.E.	Std. Estimate	R ²
vity	INT1	1.008***	.052	.890	.793
ractiv	INT2	.929***	.051	.850	.723
Inte	INT3	1.000	-	.895	.801
it	FIT1	1.000	-	.909	.826
ed F	FIT2	1.046***	.040	.934	.872
rceiv	FIT3	1.038***	.040	.938	.879
Pe	FIT5	1.179***	.047	.922	.850
ed ity	FAM1	.991***	.060	.856	.733
Perceive Familiar	FAM2	1.131***	.063	.912	.831
	FAM3	1.000	-	.840	.705
	INN1	.999***	.060	.808	.653
ed eness	INN2	.991***	.051	.876	.767
rceivo ative	INN3	1.103***	.050	.936	.876
Pel	INN4	.614***	.073	.794	.424
—	INN5	1.000	-	.869	.755
	UTL1	1.000	-	.816	.667
arian	UTL2	1.170	0.86	.822	.675
Jtilit	UTL3	1.056	.071	.824	.679
	UTL5	1.184	.098	.792	.628
.2	HDN2	1.000	-	.886	.785
edoni	HDN3	1.083	.049	.906	.821
H	HDN4	1.063	.053	.869	.755

Table 5-13 Path Coefficient, Error, and R-Square Estimates

HDN5	.984	.047	.925	.856

S.E.: Approximate Standard Error

5.4.4. Results of Hypothesis Testing

After assessing the structural model fit and verifying the good fit, I tested the proposed theoretical hypotheses to determine whether they were supported by the data. The results, which are presented in Figure 5-1 and Table 5-14, indicate that interactivity was positively associated with perceived product fit ($\beta = 0.45$; $\rho < 0.001$) and perceived product familiarity ($\beta = 0.28$; $\rho < 0.001$), thereby supporting H1 and H2. Perceived product fit was positively associated with perceived product innovativeness ($\beta = 0.50$; $\rho < 0.001$), thus supporting H3. The hypothesized positive association between perceived product familiarity and perceived product innovativeness was also supported by the data ($\beta = 0.19$; $\rho = 0.049$) referring to H4 in the research model.



Figure 5-1: LVPA Model Results

On the other hand, product type, particularly the hedonic appeal of the presented product, was found to moderate the positive association between interactivity and perceived product fit ($\beta = 0.28$; $\rho < 0.01$), thus validating H5a. However, the moderating effect of product type for utilitarian products was found to be insignificant in moderating the positive association between interactivity and perceived product familiarity ($\beta = 0.08$; $\rho = 0.192$), refuting H5b.

Hypothesis	β	t	р	Validation
H1: Higher interactivity of a product presentation medium will be positively associated with perceived product fit.	.45	4.476	<.001	Supported
H2: Higher interactivity of a product presentation medium will be positively associated with perceived product familiarity with the presented product.	.28	5.425	<.001	Supported
H3 : Higher perceived product fit will be positively associated with perceived innovativeness of that product.	.50	9.510	<.001	Supported
H4 : Higher perceived familiarity with a product will be positively associated with perceived innovativeness of that product.	.19	1.961	.049	Supported
H5a: Product type will positively moderate the relationship between	.28	2.764	.006	Supported

Table 5-14: Results of the Hypotheses Testing

interactivity and perceived product fit, such that the effect is stronger for products higher in hedonic appeal than for those lower in hedonic appeal.				
H5b : Product type will positively moderate the relationship between interactivity and perceived product familiarity, such that the effect is stronger for products higher in utilitarian appeal than for those lower in utilitarian appeal.	.08	1.305	.192	Rejected

I used R^2 measures—which represent the percentage of the variance in the dependent variables explained by the corresponding independent variables—to further assess the predictive power of the proposed research model (Gefen et al. 2000). Although a threshold value was not established for this variable, Falk and Miller (1992) did recommend the explained variance in the dependent variables to be at least 0.10 in a model. In this study, this was exceeded by all dependent variables (Figure 5-1). According to the findings of the structural model assessment, the R^2 value of Perceived Product Fit was 0.177, the R^2 of Perceived Product Familiarity was 0.192, and the R^2 of Perceived Product Innovativeness was 0.477.

Following the explained variance analyses, I further assessed the mediation of perceived product fit and perceived product familiarity to understand whether they fully or partially mediated the relationship between interactivity and perceived product innovativeness. Following the method suggested by Baron and Kenney (1986), I first estimated the direct impact of perceived interactivity on perceived product innovativeness and found it to be significant ($\beta = 0.392$; $\rho < 0.001$). I then added perceived product fit and perceived product familiarity to the model, which resulted in a nonsignificant relationship between perceived interactivity and perceived product innovativeness ($\beta = 0.136$; $\rho > 0.05$). Therefore, the relationship between perceived interactivity and perceived product innovativeness was found to be fully mediated by perceived product fit and perceived familiarity.

5.4.5. Interaction Plots for the Impact of Product Type

I tested the significance of the moderating effect of the hedonic appeal of the product on perceived product fit and the utilitarian appeal of the product on perceived product familiarity through AMOS-based SEM. As discussed in the previous sections, the results showed that the hedonic appeal of the product positively moderated the relationship between perceived interactivity and perceived product fit. However, the influence of the utilitarian product on increasing the extent of perceived product familiarity as a result of exposure to higher levels of interactivity was not significant. To further examine these two moderating effects, the Interaction software was used to draw the interaction plots of the differing strengths of these moderators on the mentioned relationships. The resulting plots for the varying levels of moderator values at $(\mu-3\sigma)$, $(\mu-2\sigma)$, $(\mu-\sigma)$, μ , $(\mu+\sigma)$, $(\mu+2\sigma)$, and $(\mu+3\sigma)$ are shown in Figure 5-2 and Figure 5-3, with the unstandardized regression coefficient of the independent variable on the dependent variable at the corresponding level of the moderator for that specific interaction line. As seen in Figure 5-2, with the increasing level of hedonic appeal, the nonsignificant relationship between interactivity and perceived

product fit for values below μ became significant for the moderator values at μ and above, thus supporting the findings of the SEM analyses. It should be noted that the negative unstandardized regression coefficients for moderator values below μ are statistically insignificant and do not indicate a negative moderation effect.



Figure 5-2: Impact of Hedonic Product Type on the Interactivity–Perceived Fit Relationship

On the other hand, Figure 5-3 demonstrates the influence of the utilitarian product type on the relationship between perceived interactivity and perceived product familiarity. As depicted in the figure, the relationship between interactivity and perceived product familiarity was significant for all levels of utilitarian dominancy (except at μ -3 σ). Therefore, the utilitarian product type did not interact with perceived interactivity to increase the extent of perceived product familiarity, thereby supporting the findings of the SEM analysis.





Figure 5-3: Impact of Utilitarian Product Type on the Interactivity–Perceived Familiarity Relationship

5.4.6. Analysis of the Impact of the Control Variables

The control variables included in the model were age, education level, and the participants' experience on online entrepreneurship platforms, all of which were addressed to ensure the validity and generalizability of the findings for the different age groups in terms of their different educational backgrounds and levels of experience on the mentioned platforms. All three of these variables were included in the model and linked to all endogenous variables, namely perceived product fit, perceived product familiarity, and perceived product innovativeness. Both the strength of the relationship between the control and endogenous variables and the impact of these relationships on the significance of the hypothesized paths were examined. As depicted in Table 5-15, except for the relationships

between age and perceived product fit and experience and perceived product familiarity, none of the paths were significant. According to these findings, age had a significant negative impact on perceived product fit, which may be explained by decreasing tolerance to new products with increasing age (Sawyerr et al. 2005). Nevertheless, experience on online entrepreneurship platforms was found to have a positive influence on perceived product familiarity, which could be due to the positive impact of familiarity with the way in which products are presented on these platforms on ease of learning (Moreno and Mayer 2007). As none of the hypothesized paths in the model changed algebraic sign, nor did any of the paths become non-significant with the addition or deletion of these three control variables, it can be concluded that the control variables did not affect the conclusions derived from the research model of this study.

Control Variables	Endogenous Constructs	Path Coefficient	Significance
Age	Perceived Product Fit	27	p=0.004
	Perceived Product Familiarity	03	n.s.
	Perceived Product Innovativeness	.07	n.s.
Experience	Perceived Product Fit	.08	n.s.
	Perceived Product Familiarity	.09	p=0.026
	Perceived Product Innovativeness	02	n.s.
Education	Perceived Product Fit	-0.12	n.s.

Table 5-15: Control Variable Analysis

|--|

Perceived Product Familiarity	0.02	n.s.
Perceived Product Innovativeness	-0.12	n.s.

Non-Hypothesized Paths	β	р	\sqrt{X}
Interactivity \rightarrow Perceived Product Innovativeness	.109	>.05	Х
Perceived Product Fit \rightarrow Perceived Product Familiarity	021	>.05	Х
Hedonic Product \rightarrow Perceived Product Fit	.884	<.001	\checkmark
Hedonic Product \rightarrow Perceived Product Familiarity	.109	>.05	Х
Hedonic Product \rightarrow Perceived Product Innovativeness	.035	>.05	Х
Utilitarian Product \rightarrow Perceived Product Fit	.087	>.05	Х
Utilitarian Product \rightarrow Perceived Product Familiarity	.235	>.05	Х
Utilitarian Product \rightarrow Perceived Product Innovativeness	.207	>.05	X

 Table 5-16: SEM Results for Non-Hypothesized Paths – Saturated Model Analysis

5.4.7. Saturated Model Analysis

I assessed the significance of possible non-hypothesized relationships among the constructs of the research model through a saturated model analysis by establishing all

possible paths among the constructs in the originally proposed model. The resultant path coefficients and significance of the paths are given in Table 5-16.

As can be seen in Table 5-16, the direct relationship between perceived interactivity and perceived product innovativeness was insignificant. Therefore, it was relevant to analyze whether that relationship was fully mediated by resonance (which was operationalized as perceived product familiarity) to address the cognitive aspect and perceived product fit to address the emotional aspect. As mentioned in Section 5.4.4, the data analysis confirmed that this relationship was fully mediated by perceived product fit and perceived product familiarity.

In addition to analyzing the direct relationship between perceived interactivity and perceived product innovativeness, I analyzed the direct impact of the moderators (i.e., hedonic product type and utilitarian product type) on the three endogenous constructs. Although the impact of the utilitarian appeal of the presented product on perceived product familiarity and perceived product fit were insignificant, the impact of the hedonic appeal of the presented product on perceived product fit was found to be significant. Given that perceived product is related to its emotional aspect of resonance and that the hedonic appeal of a product is related to its emotional appeal, the significance of this relationship was reasonable. I found that the impact of the hedonic appeal of the presented product on the perceived familiarity of the product was insignificant. The relationship between perceived product fit and perceived product familiarity was also insignificant.

Chapter 6: Discussion and Conclusion

Online entrepreneurship platforms provide entrepreneurs with an invaluable opportunity to advertise innovative ideas to a large spectrum of audiences and seek funding for these ideas, affording less dependence on geographical proximity with potential resources. However, on such platforms, the success rate of technology projects, which aim to build tangible innovative products, is lower than that of any other type of project (e.g., "The Kickstarter Fulfillment Report" 2022). The innovativeness of these products plays a crucial role in convincing the audience to provide the required financial support (Le Pendeven and Schwienbacher 2021; Oo et al. 2019; Szymanski et al. 2007). From an audience perspective, perceived product innovativeness is influenced by both the novelty and meaningfulness of the new product (Amabile 1983; de Brentani 1989; Fang 2008; Sethi et al. 2001), and meaningfulness emerges through interaction (McDonnell et al. 2017). Although an audience's interaction with innovative products on online mediums is highly limited, technological advancements in web technologies have increased the use of interactive online mediums, specifically in marketing and e-commerce domains, enabling audiences to experience the product in a way that simulates direct interaction in the physical world (Klein 2003). However, to the best of my knowledge, none of these studies sought to analyze the impact of interactivity on perceptions in terms of seeking funding for innovative product ideas or examining the impact of interactivity on innovativeness perception in any of the contexts studied. Following the product innovativeness literature on identifying meaningfulness as a major driver of innovativeness perception, the main objective of this

thesis study was to investigate the impact of higher interactivity on product-related innovativeness perception through increased perceived meaningfulness.

The first research question was "How and to what extent does the interactivity of new product presentations on online entrepreneurship platforms influence the perceived innovativeness of such products?" Based on the theory of resonance, the impact of interactivity on perceived product innovativeness has been hypothesized as being mediated by resonance. This is defined as a bi-partite construct with emotional and cognitive dimensions (Giorgi 2017), where the cognitive dimension of product-audience resonance is operationalized as perceived product familiarity and the emotional dimension as perceived product fit (Giorgi 2017; Pratt 2000). The confirmed effect of increasing interactivity on perceived product familiarity ($\beta = 0.28$, p < 0.001) and perceived product fit ($\beta = 0.45$; $\rho < 0.001$) is in line with the theory of resonance, which states that resonance is a meaning-making process that occurs through interaction. Moreover, the findings support the argument that emotional and cognitive resonance are positively associated with the extent of perceived product innovativeness ($\beta = 9.510$; $\rho < 0.001$, $\beta = 1.961$; $\rho < 0.05$, respectively), which helps in convincing the audience that the innovation is not farfetched or bizarre.

As resonance between an innovative product and its audience is operationalized as a bi-partite structure with cognitive and emotional dimensions, the hedonic or utilitarian appeal of the product under examination was at the center of the second research question that is, whether the type of the product (hedonic or utilitarian) moderated the relationships

between interactivity and resonance. To answer this research question, two products of varying appeal in terms of hedonic and utilitarian dominancy were used.

The first hypothesis regarding the moderating effect of product type on the interactivity–resonance relationship tested the interaction effect of hedonic product appeal on the relationship between interactivity and perceived product fit. This hypothesis was supported by the experimental results with $\beta = 0.28$ for $\rho < 0.01$. This finding is in line with extant findings that demonstrate that the evaluation of hedonic products is mostly influenced by the affective response stemming from the product–audience interaction experience (e.g., Kempf 1999; Melnyk et al. 2012).

The second hypothesis regarding the proposed moderating effect of product type tested the interaction effect of utilitarian product appeal on the relationship between interactivity and perceived product familiarity. This hypothesis was not supported by the experimental results. Although there are multiple studies exemplifying the impact of utilitarian product appeal on cognitive responses to products (e.g. Melnyk et al. 2012), Kempf (1999) revealed inconclusive findings by demonstrating that the utilitarian appeal of products relates to both the hedonic and utilitarian responses from the product experience. Therefore, aligning with Kempf's findings, the experimental results of this study also provide evidence concluding that the utilitarian appeal of a product does not necessarily moderate the impact of interactivity on cognitive resonance, while the hedonic appeal of a product moderates the positive impact of interactivity on emotional resonance.

The proposed and validated model makes significant theoretical contributions to scholarly work on perceived product innovativeness and practical implications for increased success in online innovative product funding, the subjects of the following sections.

6.1. Contributions to Theory

The main purpose of this research was to build and validate a model that would help us conceptualize the perceived meaningfulness of innovative products and further study the impact of interactivity on perceived product innovativeness through this concept. The meaningfulness perception regarding product innovation has frequently been examined in conceptual studies aiming to contribute to the product innovativeness literature. However, to the best of my knowledge, this study is the first to provide a basis for the inherent dimensions of meaningfulness and its emergence mechanism for the further development of this stream of research. Previous studies on the relationship between perceived product meaningfulness and product innovativeness have been at the conceptual level, or the meaningfulness of the innovative product has been addressed at the item level in the overall innovativeness scale. Therefore, this study advances the product innovativeness literature by conceptualizing meaningfulness as a separate first-order construct to assess the influence of this perception on perceived product innovativeness.

Another important theoretical contribution of this study is the use of the concept of resonance to account for the perceived meaningfulness of an innovative product to its intended audience. Indeed, the resonance concept has mostly been used in the framing literature. However, it has also been proposed as a useful tool to analyze the variations between audiences' reactions to specific technological innovations (Giorgi 2017).

According to this perspective, as the success or failure of technological innovations is an outcome of how these innovations are framed, the resonance concept has the potential to shed light on these diverse reactions (Giorgi 2017). This research study took this proposition further by using the resonance concept to search for the underlying mechanism of the emergence of perceived product innovativeness. As the increased meaningfulness of an innovative product decreases the awkwardness and incongruity perceptions regarding that product, in this empirical study, the extent of resonance was evinced as being related to how the innovations would be received, thus supporting the proposed use of the resonance concept. Furthermore, the findings of this study evinced meaningfulness as a multi-dimensional concept with both emotional and cognitive resonance dimensions.

By applying Giorgi's (2017) conceptual model of resonance to analyze the meaningfulness perception regarding a particular innovation, this study also extends the application domain of the resonance concept and contributes to both the product innovativeness and resonance literature by initiating new research areas and streams at the intersection of these two areas. This study combines these two concepts to provide a deeper understanding of product innovativeness perception.

In addition, grounded in theory of resonance theory, this study demonstrated that providing the audience with the opportunity to interact with innovative products on online mediums can increase the cognitive and emotional resonance that emerges between the audience and the product. The empirical findings of the study contribute to the theory of resonance by justifying the theorized role of interaction between an audience and a product in the emergence of resonance and helping researchers better understand why interaction is necessary for resonance to emerge or increase in cognitive and emotional terms.

6.2. Contributions to Practice

In addition to the preceding comments regarding the theoretical contributions, the results regarding the impact of interactivity on perceived product innovativeness also have significant practical implications for any type of online platform. The main practical implication of this research study is tackling the trend of failure in funding technology products. While recording the highest amount of unsuccessful dollar value, technology products are more costly to build, riskier in providing the claimed benefits, and more difficult to imagine and self-reference, all of which contribute to this failure trend.

Entrepreneurs who cannot attract enough funding for their ideas need to try multiple times on multiple platforms, which costs time and money and creates increased risk for ideas to be stolen. Thus, entrepreneurs need to get the required funding to materialize their product ideas in a timely manner.

Nevertheless, the innovativeness of product ideas significantly increases the probability of funding success (Le Pendeven and Schwienbacher 2021; Oo et al. 2019). Specifically, ideas that are perceived as higher in innovativeness by the audience attract more people who are willing to fund and raise more capital than ideas perceived as less innovative (Le Pendeven and Schwienbacher 2021). A meta-analysis validated this argument with empirical evidence of the positive impact of product innovativeness on financial performance (Szymanski et al. 2007). Venture capitalists also seek higher

91

innovativeness to invest in technology ideas by investing three times more into higher innovativeness than lower innovativeness (Timmons and Bygrave 1986).

With this motivation, this study aimed to enhance the perceived innovativeness of new technology products, specifically from the audience's perspective, to alleviate the observed phenomenon on online entrepreneurship platforms. By increasing product– audience interaction, the failure percentage of technology products could be reduced by enhancing meaningfulness and, thus, the innovativeness perception regarding such products.

Based on the above argument, the anticipated practical contribution of this study is its demonstration of the positive influence of interactive presentation alternatives on audiences' (i.e., potential backers') innovativeness perception of new technology products and, thus, providing a remedy for the lower success rate of technology products on online entrepreneurship platforms.

6.3. Limitations and Future Research

Notwithstanding its theoretical and practical contributions, this study has some limitations that present avenues for future research. The first limitation is that the experiment was conducted for one product pair, which is a common limitation of experimental studies on products (e.g., Jiang and Benbasat 2004; Smith 1993). The experimental product idea in this research was chosen because of the relevance of the concept to current crowdfunding product ideas on target online entrepreneurship mediums in terms of representativeness. Nevertheless, the relative effect of interactivity may depend on specific attributes of products from different categories. For instance, while interactivity

has been found to be effective in changing the perceived innovativeness of a product intended for frequent daily use, it may not be effective for products with which the audience will not be interacting in their daily routine. Experimenting with products from different categories with differing complexities would strengthen the generalizability of the findings. The experiment may also be conducted for non-technology products to analyze the extent to which the study findings can be extended to other types of products.

Second, the age of the participants recruited by the market research firm is skewed towards older adults. This is a result of the very high speed of data coming through, and the inability of the market research firm to step in and stop specific age groups from coming into the survey in time. I set specific acceptance criteria based on quality, which required the market research firm to control not only how many participants are recruited from specific demographics but also the demographics of the successful participants (i.e, those participants that complete the experiment and survey within the set quality standards). It would appear that the older age group was being more serious than younger age group in terms of their participation in the study. Due to the fact that recruited participants are allowed into the study in batches, it was very difficult to keep the participants' age balanced between age groups. To check for the impact of this skewed sample on the results of this study, I added age as a control variable and concluded that age did not affect the relationships in the model in terms of direction or significance.

Third, the R^2 values of the mediators (i.e., perceived product fit and perceived product familiarity) arguably point to the probable existence of better scales to operationalize cognitive and emotional resonance between the product and audience and,

thus, affect innovativeness perception. Following Giorgi's (2017) and Pratt's (2000) research, cognitive resonance between an innovative product and an audience is operationalized as perceived product familiarity, and emotional resonance in the same context is operationalized as perceived product fit. Further research can inform the extent to which these two scales cover the intended context of the two latent constructs.

Fourth, the study participants were sampled among Canadian and US online users. As cross-country cultural differences may have an impact on how an innovation is received (Busse and Khatib 2013), this limitation should be considered in generalizing the findings of this research to other cultures. Future research may aim to analyze the impact of interactivity on perceived product innovativeness in other cultures so as to provide a stronger basis for the generalizability of the findings.

Fifth, as identified in Subsection 5.4.6 of this thesis, a few control variables were found to have statistically significant associations with some of the latent variables in the research model. Although the probable impact of these associations on the findings was discussed within the scope of this thesis, further research may help explain the extent to which the identified relationships can affect the findings.

Lastly, in this study, the research questions were addressed using quantitative data. The findings could have been strengthened by qualitative, open-ended questions regarding the participants' perceptions of the presented products.

94

6.4. Conclusion

This study aimed to extend research on the meaningfulness perception regarding new product ideas through its conceptualized influence on overall product innovativeness perception. It contributes to product innovativeness research by using the resonance concept to account for the meaningfulness perception regarding innovative product ideas in both cognitive and emotional dimensions and suggests that the resonance between a virtually presented innovative product and the audience can be influenced by increased interaction between the product and the audience, which can change how innovative the product is perceived. Thus, the study results showed that the increased virtual interaction between a new technology product and the audience can be used to foster resonance between this product and audience. In so doing, the results of the study revealed that the meaningfulness perception regarding a product innovation also plays a significant role in the overall innovativeness perception. This study also identified a positive association between the hedonic appeal of the presented product and the impact of the interaction on emotional resonance, which evinces the higher effectiveness of interactivity on hedonic products. Combining the study findings with those of extant research on the positive impact of higher meaningfulness perception on new product funding success leads to the conclusion that a higher potential for the funding success of highly innovative technology product development projects can be achieved through higher interaction between the new products and the audience.

REFERENCES

- Acuña, E., and Rodriguez, C. 2004. "The Treatment of Missing Values and Its Effect on Classifier Accuracy," in *Classification, Clustering, and Data Mining Applications*, D. Banks, F. R. McMorris, P. Arabie, and W. Gaul (eds.), Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 639–647.
- Alba, J. W., and Hutchinson, J. W. 1987. "Dimensions of Consumer Expertise," *Journal* of Consumer Research (13:4), p. 411. (https://doi.org/10.1086/209080).
- Amabile, T. M. 1983. "The Social Psychology of Creativity: A Componential Conceptualization.," *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* (45:2), pp. 357–376. (https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.45.2.357).
- Andrews, J., and Smith, D. C. 1996. "In Search of the Marketing Imagination: Factors Affecting the Creativity of Marketing Programs for Mature Products," *Journal of Marketing Research* (33:2), p. 174. (https://doi.org/10.2307/3152145).
- Au, Ngai, and Cheng. 2008. "Extending the Understanding of End User Information Systems Satisfaction Formation: An Equitable Needs Fulfillment Model Approach," *MIS Quarterly* (32:1), p. 43. (https://doi.org/10.2307/25148828).
- Bagozzi, R. P., and Yi, Y. 2012. "Specification, Evaluation, and Interpretation of Structural Equation Models," *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science* (40:1), pp. 8–34. (https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-011-0278-x).
- Barclay, M. J., Clifford, W. S., Jr., and Ross, L. W. 1995. "The Determinants of Corporate Leverage and Dividend Policies.," *Journal of Applied Corporate Finance* (7), pp. 4–19.
- Baron, R. M., and Kenny, D. A. 1986. "The Moderator-Mediator Variable Distinction in Social Psychological Research: Conceptual, Strategic, and Statistical Considerations," *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* (51:6), pp. 1173– 1182.
- Batra, R., and Ahtola, O. T. 1991. "Measuring the Hedonic and Utilitarian Sources of Consumer Attitudes," *Marketing Letters* (2:2), pp. 159–170. (https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00436035).
- Baumgartner, H., Sujan, M., and Bettman, J. R. 1992. "Autobiographical Memories, Affect, and Consumer Information Processing," *Journal of Consumer Psychology* (1:1), pp. 53–82. (https://doi.org/10.1016/S1057-7408(08)80045-9).
- Bearden, W. O., Sharma, S., and Teel, J. E. 1982. "Sample Size Effects on Chi-Square and Other Statistics Used in Evaluating Causal Models.," *Journal of Marketing Research* (19), 425–430.

- Benford, R. D., and Snow, D. A. 2000. "Framing Processes and Social Movements: An Overview and Assessment," *Annual Review of Sociology* (26:1), pp. 611–639. (https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.26.1.611).
- Bernstein, I. H., and Nunnally, J. C. 1994. *Psychometric Theory*, New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Boisvert, J., and Khan, M. S. 2022. "Toward a Better Understanding of the Main Antecedents and Outcomes of Consumer-Based Perceived Product Innovativeness," *Journal of Strategic Marketing* (30:3), pp. 296–319. (https://doi.org/10.1080/0965254X.2020.1807589).
- de Brentani, U. 1989. "Success and Failure in New Industrial Services," *Journal of Product Innovation Management* (6:4), pp. 239–258.
- Brockman, B. K., and Morgan, R. M. 2003. "The Role of Existing Knowledge in New Product Innovativeness and Performance," *Decision Sciences* (34:2), pp. 385–419. (https://doi.org/10.1111/1540-5915.02326).
- Brown, P., Keenan, J. M., and Potts, G. R. 1986. "The Self-Reference Effect with Imagery Encoding.," *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* (51:5), pp. 897–906. (https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.51.5.897).
- Burnkrant, R. E., and Unnava, H. R. 1995. "Effects of Self-Referencing on Persuasion," *Journal of Consumer Research* (22:1), p. 17. (https://doi.org/10.1086/209432).
- Busse, S., and Khatib, V. E. 2013. "Understanding the Role of Culture in Eco- Innovation Adoption – An Empirical Cross - Country Comparison," in *Thirty Fourth International Conference on Information Systems*, Milan: AIS Electronic Library, p. 18.
- Calantone, R. J., Chan, K., and Cui, A. S. 2006. "Decomposing Product Innovativeness and Its Effects on New Product Success," *Journal of Product Innovation Management* (23:5), pp. 408–421. (https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5885.2006.00213.x).
- Calantone, R. J., Harmancioglu, N., and Droge, C. 2010. "Inconclusive Innovation "Returns": A Meta-Analysis of Research on Innovation in New Product DevelopmentÃ," *Journal of Product Innovation Management* (27), pp. 1064– 1081.
- Chan, C. S. R., and Parhankangas, A. 2017. "Crowdfunding Innovative Ideas: How Incremental and Radical Innovativeness Influence Funding Outcomes," *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice* (41:2), pp. 237–263. (https://doi.org/10.1111/etap.12268).

- Chandy, R. K., and Tellis, G. J. 1998. "Organizing for Radical Product Innovation: The Overlooked Role of Willingness to Cannibalize," *Journal of Marketing Research*, p. 14.
- Chen, H., Yao, Y., Zan, A., and Carayannis, E. G. 2020. "How Does Coopetition Affect Radical Innovation? The Roles of Internal Knowledge Structure and External Knowledge Integration," *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing* (ahead-ofprint:ahead-of-print). (https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-05-2019-0257).
- Choi, Y. K., and Taylor, C. R. 2014. "How Do 3-Dimensional Images Promote Products on the Internet?," *Journal of Business Research* (67:10), pp. 2164–2170. (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2014.04.026).
- Ciganek, A., and Zahedi, F. 2004. "Radical! The Influence of Perceived Radicalness on Technology Acceptance," in *AMCIS 2004 Proceedings*, New York, p. 6.
- Clemons, E. K., Gao, G. G., and Hitt, L. M. 2006. "When Online Reviews Meet Hyperdifferentiation: A Study of the Craft Beer Industry," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (23:2), pp. 149–171. (https://doi.org/10.2753/MIS0742-1222230207).
- Clemons, E. K., Spitler, R., Gu, B., and Markopoulos, P. 2005. "Information, HyperDifferentiation, and Delight: The Value of Being Different," in *The Broadband Explosion: Leading Thinkers on the Promise of a Truly Interactive World* (S. Bradley and R. Austin (eds.).), Boston: Harvard Business School Press, pp. 137–164.
- Cohen, J. 1988. *Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences*, (2nd ed.), Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Cronbach, L. J. 1951. "Coefficient Alpha and the Internal Structure of Tests," *Psychometrika* (16:3), pp. 297–334.
- Crowley, A. E., Spangenberg, E. R., and Hughes, K. R. 1992. "Measuring the Hedonic and Utilitarian Dimensions of Attitudes toward Product Categories," *Marketing Letters* (3:3), pp. 239–249. (https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00994132).
- Dahl, D. W., and Hoeffler, S. 2004. "Visualizing the Self: Exploring the Potential Benefits and Drawbacks for New Product Evaluation," *Journal of Product Innovation Management* (21:4), pp. 259–267. (https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0737-6782.2004.00077.x).
- Daugherty, T., and Biocca, F. 2005. "Experiential Ecommerce: A Summary of Research Investigating the Impact of Virtual Experience on Consumer Learning," *Online Consumer Psychology: Understanding and Influencing Consumer Behavior in the Virtual World*.
- Daugherty, T., Li, H., and Biocca, F. 2008. "Consumer Learning and the Effects of Virtual Experience Relative to Indirect and Direct Product Experience," *Psychology and Marketing* (25:7), pp. 568–586. (https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.20225).
- Degeratu, A. M., Rangaswamy, A., and Wu, J. 2000. "Consumer Choice Behavior in Online and Traditional Supermarkets: The Effects of Brand Name, Price, and Other Search Attributes," *International Journal of Research in Marketing* (17:1), pp. 55–78. (https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8116(00)00005-7).
- Desmet, P., and Hekkert, P. 2007. "Framework of Product Experience," *International Journal of Design* (1:1), pp. 57–66.
- Escalas, J. E. 2004. "Imagine Yourself in the Product : Mental Simulation, Narrative Transportation, and Persuasion," *Journal of Advertising* (33:2), pp. 37–48. (https://doi.org/10.1080/00913367.2004.10639163).
- Eyal, N. 2015. "People Don't Want Something Truly New, They Want the Familiar Done Differently," *Entrepreneur*. (https://www.entrepreneur.com/article/247467).
- Falk, R. F., and Miller, N. B. 1992. *A Primer for Soft Modeling*, University of Akron Press.
- Fang, E. (Er). 2008. "Customer Participation and the Trade-Off between New Product Innovativeness and Speed to Market," *Journal of Marketing* (72), pp. 90–104.
- Farrell, A. M., and Rudd, J. M. 2009. Factor Analysis and Discriminant Validity: A Brief Review of Some Practical Issues, presented at the Australia and New Zealand Marketing Academy Conference (ANZMAC), Melbourne.
- Featherman, M. S., and Pavlou, P. A. 2003. "Predicting E-Services Adoption: A Perceived Risk Facets Perspective," *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies* (59:4), pp. 451–474. (https://doi.org/10.1016/S1071-5819(03)00111-3).
- Fornell, C., and Larcker, D. F. 1981. "Evaluating Structural Equation Models with Unobservable Variables and Measurement Error," *Journal of Marketing Researc* (18), pp. 39–50.
- Fortin, D. R., and Dholakia, R. R. 2005. "Interactivity and Vividness Effects on Social Presence and Involvement with a Web-Based Advertisement," *Journal of Business Research* (58:3), pp. 387–396. (https://doi.org/10.1016/S0148-2963(03)00106-1).
- Gabisch, J. A. 2011. "Virtual World Brand Experience and Its Impact on Real World Purchasing Behavior," *Journal of Brand Management* (19:1), pp. 18–32. (https://doi.org/10.1057/bm.2011.29).

- Galletta, D., Henry, R., McCoy, S., and Polak, P. 2004. "Web Site Delays: How Tolerant Are Users?," *Journal of the Association for Information Systems* (5:1), pp. 1–28. (https://doi.org/10.17705/1jais.00044).
- Garcia, R., and Calantone, R. 2002. "A Critical Look at Technological Innovation Typology and Innovativeness Terminology: A Literature Review," *The Journal of Product Innovation Management* (19), pp. 110–132.
- Gatignon, H., Tushman, M. L., Smith, W., and Anderson, P. 2002. "A Structural Approach to Assessing Innovation: Construct Development of Innovation Locus, Type, and Characteristics," *Management Science* (48:9), pp. 1103–1122. (https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.48.9.1103.174).
- Gefen, D., and Straub, D. 2005. "A Practical Guide To Factorial Validity Using PLS-Graph: Tutorial And Annotated Example," *Communications of the Association for Information Systems* (16). (https://doi.org/10.17705/1CAIS.01605).
- Gefen, D., Straub, D., and Boudreau, M.-C. 2000. "Structural Equation Modeling and Regression: Guidelines for Research Practice," *Communications of the Association for Information Systems* (4). (https://doi.org/10.17705/1CAIS.00407).
- Gibson, J. J. 1966. *The Senses Considered as Perceptual Systems*, Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin.
- Giorgi, S. 2017. "The Mind and Heart of Resonance: The Role of Cognition and Emotions in Frame Effectiveness: The Mind and Heart of Resonance," *Journal of Management Studies* (54:5), pp. 711–738. (https://doi.org/10.1111/joms.12278).
- Gorsuch, R. L. 1983. "Three Methods for Analyzing Limited Time-Series (N of 1) Data.," *Behavioral Assessment* (5:2), pp. 141–154.
- Gursoy, D., Chi, O. H., Lu, L., and Nunkoo, R. 2019. "Consumers Acceptance of Artificially Intelligent (AI) Device Use in Service Delivery," *International Journal* of Information Management (49), pp. 157–169. (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2019.03.008).
- Hair, J. F., Page, M., and Brunsveld, N. 2019. *Essentials of Business Research Methods*, (4th ed.), Routledge. (https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429203374).
- Hair Jr., J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., and Anderson, R. E. 2010. *Multivariate Data Analysis*, (7th Edition.), Prentice Hall.
- Hair Jr., J. F., Gabriel, M. L. D. S., and Patel, V. K. 2014. "AMOS Covariance-Based Structural Equation Modeling (CB-SEM): Guidelines on Its Application as a Marketing Research Tool," *Brazilian Journal of Marketing* (13:2), pp. 44–55.

- Hair Jr., J. F., Hult, G. T. M., Ringle, C. M., and Sarstedt, M. 2016. A Primer on Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling, (2nd ed.), SAGE Publications. (https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0024630113000034).
- Hassenzahl, M., Schöbel, M., and Trautmann, T. 2008. "How Motivational Orientation Influences the Evaluation and Choice of Hedonic and Pragmatic Interactive Products: The Role of Regulatory Focus," *Interacting with Computers* (20:4–5), pp. 473–479. (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intcom.2008.05.001).
- Hong, Y. (Kevin), and Pavlou, P. A. 2014. "Product Fit Uncertainty in Online Markets: Nature, Effects, and Antecedents," *Information Systems Research* (25:2), pp. 328– 344. (https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.2014.0520).
- Hong, Y., and Pavlou, P. A. 2010. "Fit Does Matter! An Empirical Study on Product Fit Uncertainty in Online Marketplaces," SSRN Electronic Journal. (https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1600523).
- Hu, L., and Bentler, P. M. 1995. "Evaluating Model Fit.," in Structural Equation Modeling. Concepts, Issues, and Applications (R. H. Hoyle.), London: Sage, pp. 76–99.
- Hu, L., and Bentler, P. M. 1999. "Cutoff Criteria for Fit Indexes in Covariance Structure Analysis: Conventional Criteria versus New Alternatives.," *Structural Equation Modeling* (6), pp. 1–55.
- Hutchins, E. L., Hollan, J. D., and Norman, D. A. 1985. "Direct Manipulation Interfaces," *Human–Computer Interaction* (1:4), pp. 311–338. (https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327051hci0104_2).
- Im, S., Bhat, S., and Lee, Y. 2015. "Consumer Perceptions of Product Creativity, Coolness, Value and Attitude," *Journal of Business Research* (68:1), pp. 166–172. (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2014.03.014).
- Im, S., and Workman, J. P. 2004. "Market Orientation, Creativity, and New Product Performance in High-Technology Firms," *Journal of Marketing* (68:2), pp. 114– 132. (https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkg.68.2.114.27788).
- Jackson, P. W., and Messick, S. 1965. "The Person, the Product, and the Response: Conceptual Problems in the Assessment of Creativity," *Journal of Personality* (33:3), pp. 309–329. (https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.1965.tb01389.x).
- Jahng, J., Jain, H., and Ramamurthy, K. 2000. "Effective Design of Electronic Commerce Environments: A Proposed Theory of Congruence and an Illustration," *IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics - Part A: Systems and Humans* (30:4), pp. 456–471. (https://doi.org/10.1109/3468.852439).

- Jiang, Z., and Benbasat, I. 2004. "Virtual Product Experience: Effects of Visual and Functional Control of Products on Perceived Diagnosticity and Flow in Electronic Shopping," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (21:3), pp. 111–147. (https://doi.org/10.1080/07421222.2004.11045817).
- Jiang, Z., and Benbasat, I. 2007. "Research Note—Investigating the Influence of the Functional Mechanisms of Online Product Presentations," *Information Systems Research* (18:4), pp. 454–470. (https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.1070.0124).
- Jordan, P. J., and Troth, A. C. 2020. "Common Method Bias in Applied Settings: The Dilemma of Researching in Organizations," *Australian Journal of Management* (45:1), pp. 3–14. (https://doi.org/10.1177/0312896219871976).
- Jöreskog, K. G., and Sörbom, D. 1981. "LISREL V: Analysis of Linear Structural Relationships by Maximum Likelihood and Least Squares Methods," Research Report No. 81–8, Research Report, Uppsala, Sweden: University of Uppsala, Department of Statistics.
- Jöreskog, K. G., and Sörbom, D. 1989. *LISREL 7 User's Reference Guide*, Chicago: SPSS Publications.
- Jr, J., Matthews, L., Matthews, R., and Sarstedt, M. 2017. "PLS-SEM or CB-SEM: Updated Guidelines on Which Method to Use," *International Journal of Multivariate Data Analysis* (1), p. 107. (https://doi.org/10.1504/IJMDA.2017.087624).
- Keller, P. A., and McGill, A. L. 1994. "Differences in the Relative Influence of Product Attributes under Alternative Processing Conditions: Attribute Importance versus Attribute Ease of Imagability," *Journal of Consumer Psychology* (3:1), pp. 29–49. (https://doi.org/10.1016/S1057-7408(08)80027-7).
- Kempf, D. S. 1999. "Attitude Formation from Product Trial: Distinct Roles of Cognition and Affect for Hedonic and Functional Products," *Psychology and Marketing* (16:1), pp. 35–50.
- Kennedy, M. S., Ferrell, L. K., and LeClair, D. T. 2001. "Consumers' Trust of Salesperson and Manufacturer: An Empirical Study," *Journal of Business Research* (51:1), pp. 73–86. (https://doi.org/10.1016/S0148-2963(99)00039-9).
- Klein, L. R. 1998. "Evaluating the Potential of Interactive Media Through a Different Lens: Search Versus Experience Goods," *Journal of Business Research* (41), pp. 195–203.
- Klein, L. R. 2003. "Creating Virtual Product Experiences: The Role of Telepresence," *Journal of Interactive Marketing* (17:1), pp. 41–55. (https://doi.org/10.1002/dir.10046).

- Le Pendeven, B., and Schwienbacher, A. 2021. "Equity Crowdfunding: The Influence of Perceived Innovativeness on Campaign Success," *British Journal of Management* (0), pp. 1–19. (https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12585).
- Lee, Y., and Colarelli O'Connor, G. 2003. "The Impact of Communication Strategy on Launching New Products: The Moderating Role of Product Innovativeness," *Journal of Product Innovation Management* (20:1), pp. 4–21. (https://doi.org/10.1111/1540-5885.t01-1-201002).
- Lempiälä, T., Apajalahti, E.-L., Haukkala, T., and Lovio, R. 2019. "Socio-Cultural Framing during the Emergence of a Technological Field: Creating Cultural Resonance for Solar Technology," *Research Policy* (48:9), p. 103830. (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2019.103830).
- Li, H., Daugherty, T., and Biocca, F. 2001. "Characteristics of Virtual Experience in Electronic Commerce: A Protocol Analysis," *Journal of Interactive Marketing* (15:3), pp. 13–30. (https://doi.org/10.1002/dir.1013).
- Li, H., Daugherty, T., and Biocca, F. 2002. "Impact of 3-D Advertising on Product Knowledge, Brand Attitude, and Purchase Intention: The Mediating Role of Presence," *Journal of Advertising* (31:3), pp. 43–57. (https://doi.org/10.1080/00913367.2002.10673675).
- Liu, Y. (Alison), Jiang, Z. (Jack), and Chan, H. C. 2019. "Touching Products Virtually: Facilitating Consumer Mental Imagery with Gesture Control and Visual Presentation," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (36:3), pp. 823–854. (https://doi.org/10.1080/07421222.2019.1628901).
- Lombard, M., and Ditton, T. 1997. "At the Heart of It All: The Concept of Presence," *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication* (3:JCMC321). (https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1083-6101.1997.tb00072.x).
- Mazmanian, M., Orlikowski, W. J., and Yates, J. 2013. "The Autonomy Paradox: The Implications of Mobile Email Devices for Knowledge Professionals," *Organization Science* (24:5), pp. 1337–1357. (https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1120.0806).
- McDonnell, T. E., Bail, C. A., and Tavory, I. 2017. "A Theory of Resonance," *Sociological Theory* (35:1), pp. 1–14.
- Melnyk, V., Klein, K., and Völckner, F. 2012. "The Double-Edged Sword of Foreign Brand Names for Companies from Emerging Countries," *Journal of Marketing* (76:6), pp. 21–37. (https://doi.org/10.1509/jm.11.0349).
- Menguc, B., and Auh, S. 2010. "Development and Return on Execution of Product Innovation Capabilities: The Role of Organizational Structure," *Industrial*

Marketing Management (39:5), pp. 820–831. (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2009.08.004).

- Meyers, L. S., Gamst, G., and Guarino, A. J. 2006. *Applied Multivariate Research: Design* and Interpretation, Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Mooy, S. C., and Robben, H. S. J. 1998. "How Consumers Learn From and About Products: The Impact of Direct Experience," Advances in Consumer Research (25), pp. 318–323.
- Moreno, R., and Mayer, R. 2007. "Interactive Multimodal Learning Environments: Special Issue on Interactive Learning Environments: Contemporary Issues and Trends," *Educational Psychology Review* (19:3), pp. 309–326. (https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-007-9047-2).
- Oo, P. P., Allison, T. H., Sahaym, A., and Juasrikul, S. 2019. "User Entrepreneurs' Multiple Identities and Crowdfunding Performance: Effects through Product Innovativeness, Perceived Passion, and Need Similarity," *Journal of Business Venturing* (34:5), pp. 1–16. (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2018.08.005).
- Osborne, J. W., and Overbay, A. 2004. "The Power of Outliers (and Why Researchers Should ALWAYS Check for Them)," *Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation* (9:6), University of Massachusetts Amherst, pp. 1–8. (https://doi.org/10.7275/QF69-7K43).
- "P2P Market Data." 2020. , May 16. (https://p2pmarketdata.com/crowdfunding-statisticsworldwide/).
- Pan, L., Li, X., Chen, J., and Chen, T. 2020. "Sounds Novel or Familiar? Entrepreneurs' Framing Strategy in the Venture Capital Market," *Journal of Business Venturing* (35:2), p. 105930. (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2019.02.003).
- Park, M., and Yoo, J. 2020. "Effects of Perceived Interactivity of Augmented Reality on Consumer Responses: A Mental Imagery Perspective," *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services* (52), p. 101912. (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2019.101912).
- Peukert, C., Pfeiffer, J., Meißner, M., Pfeiffer, T., and Weinhardt, C. 2019. "Shopping in Virtual Reality Stores: The Influence of Immersion on System Adoption," *Journal* of Management Information Systems (36:3), pp. 755–788. (https://doi.org/10.1080/07421222.2019.1628889).
- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., and Podsakoff, N. P. 2012. "Sources of Method Bias in Social Science Research and Recommendations on How to Control It," *Annual Review of Psychology* (63:1), pp. 539–569. (https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevpsych-120710-100452).

- Podsakoff, P. M., and Organ, D. 1986. "Self-Reports in Organizational Research: Problems and Prospects," *Journal of Management* (12:4), pp. 531–544.
- Pratt, M. G. 2000. "The Good, the Bad, and the Ambivalent: Managing Identification among Amway Distributors," *Administrative Science Quarterly* (45:3), p. 456. (https://doi.org/10.2307/2667106).
- Rindova, V. P., and Petkova, A. P. 2007. "When Is a New Thing a Good Thing? Technological Change, Product Form Design, and Perceptions of Value for Product Innovations," *Organization Science* (18:2), pp. 217–232. (https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1060.0233).
- Ryu, S. 2019. *Beauty of Crowdfunding: Blooming Creativity and Innovation in the Digital Era*, Routledge.
- Sawyerr, O. O., Strauss, J., and Yan, J. 2005. "Individual Value Structure and Diversity Attitudes: The Moderating Effects of Age, Gender, Race, and Religiosity," *Journal* of Managerial Psychology (20:6), pp. 498–521. (https://doi.org/10.1108/02683940510615442).
- Schermelleh-Engel, K., Moosbrugger, H., and Müller, H. 2003. "Evaluating the Fit of Structural Equation Models: Tests of Significance and Descriptive Goodness-of-Fit Measures," *Methods of Psychological Research Online* (8:2), pp. 23–74.
- Schlosser, A. E. 2003. "Experiencing Products in the Virtual World: The Role of Goal and Imagery in Influencing Attitudes versus Purchase Intentions," *Journal of Consumer Research* (30:2), pp. 184–198. (https://doi.org/10.1086/376807).
- Schlosser, A. E. 2006. "Learning through Virtual Product Experience: The Role of Imagery on True versus False Memories," *Journal of Consumer Research* (33:3), pp. 377–383. (https://doi.org/10.1086/508522).
- Sethi, R., and Sethi, A. 2009. "Can Quality-Oriented Firms Develop Innovative New Products?," *Journal of Product Innovation Management* (26:2), pp. 206–221. (https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5885.2009.00346.x).
- Sethi, R., Smith, D. C., and Park, C. W. 2001. "Cross-Functional Product Development Teams, Creativity, and the Innovativeness of New Consumer Products," *Journal of Marketing Research* (38:1), pp. 73–85. (https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkr.38.1.73.18833).
- Slater, M., and Wilbur, S. 1997. "A Framework for Immersive Virtual Environments (FIVE): Speculations on the Role of Presence in Virtual Environments," *Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments* (6:6), pp. 603–616. (https://doi.org/10.1162/pres.1997.6.6.603).

- Smith, R. E. 1993. "Integrating Information from Advertising and Trial: Processes and Effects on Consumer Response to Product Information," *Journal of Marketing Research* (30:2), pp. 204–219.
- Steiger, J. H. 1990. "Structural Model Evaluation and Modification: An Interval Estimation Approach.," *Multivariate Behavioral Research* (25), pp. 173–180.
- Steuer, J. 1992. "Defining Virtual Reality: Dimensions Determining Telepresence," *Journal of Communication* (42:4), pp. 73–93. (https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.1992.tb00812.x).
- Story, V. M., Boso, N., and Cadogan, J. W. 2015. "The Form of Relationship between Firm-Level Product Innovativeness and New Product Performance in Developed and Emerging Markets: Firm-Level Product Innovativeness and New Product Performance," *Journal of Product Innovation Management* (32:1), pp. 45–64. (https://doi.org/10.1111/jpim.12180).
- Suh and Lee. 2005. "The Effects of Virtual Reality on Consumer Learning: An Empirical Investigation," *MIS Quarterly* (29:4), p. 673. (https://doi.org/10.2307/25148705).
- Szymanski, D. M., Kroff, M. W., and Troy, L. C. 2007. "Innovativeness and New Product Success: Insights from the Cumulative Evidence," *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science* (35:1), pp. 35–52. (https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-006-0014-0).

"The Kickstarter Fulfillment Report." 2022. (https://www.kickstarter.com/help/stats).

- Timmons, J. A., and Bygrave, W. D. 1986. "Venture Capital's Role in Financing Innovation for Economic Growth," *Journal of Business Venturing* (1:2), pp. 161– 176. (https://doi.org/10.1016/0883-9026(86)90012-1).
- Voss, K. E., Spangenberg, E. R., and Grohmann, B. 2003. "Measuring the Hedonic and Utilitarian Dimensions of Consumer Attitude," *Journal of Marketing Research* (40:3), pp. 310–320. (https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkr.40.3.310.19238).
- Walheiser, D., Schwens, C., Steinberg, P. J., and Cadogan, J. W. 2021. "Greasing the Wheels or Blocking the Path? Organizational Structure, Product Innovativeness, and New Product Success☆," *Journal of Business Research* (126), pp. 489–503. (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.12.021).
- Wang, A. 2007. "Priming, Framing, and Position on Corporate Social Responsibility," *Journal of Public Relations Research* (19:2), pp. 123–145. (https://doi.org/10.1080/10627260701290638).

- Wei, Y. "Max," Hong, J., and Tellis, G. J. 2022. "Machine Learning for Creativity: Using Similarity Networks to Design Better Crowdfunding Projects," *Journal of Marketing* (86:2), pp. 87–104. (https://doi.org/10.1177/00222429211005481).
- Wells, Valacich, and Hess. 2011. "What Signal Are You Sending? How Website Quality Influences Perceptions of Product Quality and Purchase Intentions," *MIS Quarterly* (35:2), p. 373. (https://doi.org/10.2307/23044048).
- van Werven, R., Bouwmeester, O., and Cornelissen, J. P. 2019. "Pitching a Business Idea to Investors: How New Venture Founders Use Micro-Level Rhetoric to Achieve Narrative Plausibility and Resonance," *International Small Business Journal: Researching Entrepreneurship* (37:3), pp. 193–214. (https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242618818249).
- Williams, L. J., Hartman, N., and Cavazotte, F. 2010. "Method Variance and Marker Variables: A Review and Comprehensive CFA Marker Technique," Organizational Research Methods (13:3), pp. 477–514. (https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428110366036).
- Williams, L. J., and O'Boyle, E. H. 2015. "Ideal, Nonideal, and No-Marker Variables: The Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA) Marker Technique Works When It Matters.," *Journal of Applied Psychology* (100:5), pp. 1579–1602. (https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038855).
- Wu, Y., Balasubramanian, S., and Mahajan, V. 2004. "When Is a Preannounced New Product Likely to Be Delayed?," *Journal of Marketing* (68:2), pp. 101–113. (https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkg.68.2.101.27792).
- Yang, J., Li, Y., Calic, G., and Shevchenko, A. 2020. "How Multimedia Shape Crowdfunding Outcomes: The Overshadowing Effect of Images and Videos on Text in Campaign Information," *Journal of Business Research* (117), pp. 6–18. (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.05.008).
- Yi, C., Jiang, Z. (Jack), and Benbasat, I. 2015. "Enticing and Engaging Consumers via Online Product Presentations: The Effects of Restricted Interaction Design," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (31:4), pp. 213–242. (https://doi.org/10.1080/07421222.2014.1001270).
- Zhang, H., Liang, X., and Wang, S. 2016. "Customer Value Anticipation, Product Innovativeness, and Customer Lifetime Value: The Moderating Role of Advertising Strategy," *Journal of Business Research* (69:9), pp. 3725–3730. (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.09.018).
- Zhao, M., Hoeffler, S., and Dahl, D. W. 2012. "Imagination Difficulty and New Product Evaluation: Imagination Difficulty," *Journal of Product Innovation Management* (29), pp. 76–90. (https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5885.2012.00951.x).

Zhao, Q., Chen, C.-D., Wang, J.-L., and Chen, P.-C. 2017. "Determinants of Backers' Funding Intention in Crowdfunding: Social Exchange Theory and Regulatory Focus," *Telematics and Informatics* (34:1), pp. 370–384. (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2016.06.006).

Appendix A: Consent Form



PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

Using online crowdfunding platforms, such as Kickstarter and Indiegogo, it is possible for entrepreneurs to fund new product ideas. The size of contribution each supporter can make may be as little as 5\$, but total contributions may add up to millions of dollars. Depending on the type of platform and the amount of contribution, supporters receive various rewards, such as samples of the presented product, interest payments on their support, or equity in the business, all of which depends on the successful completion of the crowdfunding campaign. Before starting the experiment and answering the following questions, imagine yourself as potential supporter. Examine the products you are presented with the aim of judging whether they are worth your contribution.

The purpose of this study is to determine how you think and feel about the product as a result of your examination.

WHAT WILL HAPPEN DURING THE STUDY?

If you consent to participate, you will be directed to a fictitious product presentation webpage. Before the product is presented, you will be informed about the features of the webpage environment and how you can navigate through the page and examine the product. You may examine the product as much as you like. Upon completion of your examination, you will be asked to fill-out a survey to record your feedback.

Your honest and thoughtful responses are important to us and to the study.

To ensure the quality of survey data, your responses will be subject to sophisticated statistical control methods. Responding without reading the product description carefully and interacting with the 3D model of the product will be flagged for low-quality. You will be compensated only if you follow the instructions before clicking the "Next Page" button to be directed to the survey. Filling out the survey will take about 15 minutes.

ARE THERE ANY RISKS TO DOING THIS STUDY?

The risks involved in participating in this study are minimal. The product examination and the survey will be online, and you will be provided a two weeks-long period to choose a convenient time to do the examination and the survey. Please be informed that you may withdraw from the study anytime if you wish.

ARE THERE ANY BENEFITS TO DOING THIS RESEARCH?

You will be paid the incentive you agreed upon after you entered into the study for reviewing a product presentation on a fictitious webpage that emulates an online entrepreneurship platform, carefully examine the product and all aspects of the campaign webpage, and then answer the survey.

Online entrepreneurship platforms provide the main funding resources to the entrepreneurs to help them realize their innovative ideas. As another benefit, your participation in this research may enable you examine a product as a potential backer of that product and will also help us to understand the impact of the presentation design on the potential investors' product related perceptions.

WHO WILL KNOW WHAT I SAID OR DID IN THE STUDY?

You are participating in this study confidentially.

The survey is anonymous and only Dynata will use your email address to provide the incentive.

WHAT IF I CHANGE MY MIND ABOUT BEING IN THE STUDY?

Your participation in this study is voluntary. It is your choice to be part of the study or not. If you decide not to be part of the study, you can stop (withdraw) from the survey for whatever reason, even after giving consent to participate in the study or part-way through the study.

To do that, you may close the webpage you will be visiting throughout the product examination and the survey. After you submit your survey answers, it will not be possible to withdraw from the study because we will not be keeping any personal information that will link you to your survey answers, which means, we will not be able to delete your data from the data set.

If you decide to withdraw, there will be no consequences to you. However, incentive payment will be provided to participants who submitted their answers. If you do not want to answer some of the questions you do not have to, but you can still be in the study.

HOW DO I FIND OUT WHAT WAS LEARNED IN THIS STUDY?

We expect to have this study completed in approximately 12 months. If you are interested in the results of this research, please contact the researcher at <u>ormentor@mcmaster.ca</u>

HOW PAYMENT WILL BE PERFORMED?

At the end of the survey, you will be asked to enter an email address, which is registered for Autodeposit through e-Transfer.

You will receive the payment within a month after your participation

QUESTIONS ABOUT THE STUDY

If you have questions or need more information about the study itself, please contact Mrs. Ozmen Tokcan at: ozmentoz@mcmaster.ca

(!)

If you have concerns or questions about your rights as a participant or about the way the study is conducted, please contact:

McMaster Research Ethics Secretariat:

PHONE: (905) 525-9140 ext. 23142

This study has been reviewed by the McMaster University Research Ethics Board and received ethics clearance.

C/o Research Office for Administrative Development and Support:

MAIL: ethicsoffice@mcmaster.ca

- I have read the information presented in the information letter about a study being conducted by Zeynep Ozmen Tokcan (under the supervision of Dr. Goran Calic and Dr. Khaled Hassanein) of McMaster University.
- I understand that if I agree to participate in this study, I may withdraw from the study at any time until I submit my responses, but once my responses have been submitted, they cannot be withdrawn due to the anonymous nature of the study.

NEXT PAGE >

By clicking on the "NEXT PAGE" button, I agree to participate in the study.

Appendix B: Experimental Scenario Web Page



111

Appendix C: Interactive Hedonic Product Presentation Web Page









Welcome to your stylish and extremely cool shoes!

Smartle has three default animations for the moods happy, sad and excited. In addition to those animations, you can upload any others (i.e., walking, runnning, excercising) or modify existing ones by connecting Smartle to your Smartphone through Bluetooth or Wi-Fi. For instance, flowers may blossom when you are happy and sun may fall when you are sad.



How are you, really?

You may already share your mood through social media (Facebook, Instagram, Whatsapp). Now, you can share your mood as it changes in real time by connecting Smartle to your social media profile.



Appendix D: Non-Interactive Hedonic Product Presentation Web Page





Wouldn't it be great to have a pair of shoes that changes its appereance, according to your mood? A pair of shoes that are smart enough to know exactly how you feel and reflect those feelings on a wearable display located on the shoe's surface.

Smartie has multiple extremely sensitive sensors inside the sole that continously measures your heart beat, body temperature and blood pressure. By analyzing this data in real time, the shoe knows when you are sad, when you are excited or when you are happy.

HOW: IT LOOKS











SHOE FEATURES

- 1	-	
	••	
	0	

Welcome to your stylish and extremely cool shoes!

Smartie has three default animations for the moods happy, sad and excited. In addition to those animations, you can upload any others (i.e., walking, runnning, excercising) or modify existing ones by connecting Smartie to your Smartphone through Bluetooth or Wi-Fi. For instance, flowers may blossom when you are happy and sun may fall when you are sad.



How are you, really?

You may already share your mood through social media (Facebook, Instagram, Whatsapp). Now, you can share your mood as it changes in real time by connecting Smartie to your social media profile.



Charging!

Like other smart devices, Smartie needs energy to work. But you don't need to plug Smartie into a wall. They are



Waterproof and Cozy!

Is it raining? Don't worry. Your Smartie is completely waterproof, the sensors and the wearable display on this



Appendix E: Interactive Utilitarian Product Presentation Web Page









Cushy has multiple extremely sensitive sensors inside the sole that measures the weight distribution on your feet and dynamically and seamlessly adjusts the inclination (slope) of the sole to correct for an inbalance.

This functionality is achieved using a large number of microchambers in the sole, each of which is liquid filled and controlled to incline the fluid towards the side that needs support. This allows the sole to adjust in such a way that it corrects for pronation or supination.

The pictures on the left and right demonstrate how adjustments correct for pronation and supination, respectively.



<section-header><image><image><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header>

Charging!

Like other smart devices, Cushy needs energy to work, But you don't need to plug Cushy into a wall. They are automatically charged when you walk. Alternatively, Cushy can be charged wirelessly.

Is it raining? Don't worry. Your Cushy is completely waterproof,

Waterproof and cozy!

the sensors and the autonomous sole inside this artificially intelligent shoe are absolutely safe!





Appendix F: Non-Interactive Utilitarian Product Presentation Web Page



CUSHY: THE SMART SHOES

Did you know that it is extremely rare for your feet and stride to be perfectly balanced and equally weighted?

Many people are born with high or low arches. Others have feet that turn inward or outward. Still others have a subtler inner or outer weight distribution. If not corrected, these inbalances can cause negative longterm side effects, such as bunions, tendon dysfunctioning and chronic shin splints.

Cushy, the smart shoes, seamlessly detects and corrects such inbalances by adjusting its smart inner sole.



Pronation

You "pronate" when you place weight on the inside of your foot.

Overpronation leads to strain on the toes and causes shin splints, tibialis tendon dysfunctioning and knee pain if not corrected by using soles inclined towards the outside of the foot.



Supination

You "supinate" when you place weight on the outside of your foot.

Supination leads to excess strain on your ankles, shin splints, or bunions on the outer side of your foot, and pain in your heels if not corrected by using soles inclined towards the inside of the foot.









SHOE FEATURES



Learn more about the health of your feet!

The smartphone app connected to Cushy provides trends and analysis of your orthopedic condition. Cushy connects to your phone through Wifi or Bluetooth. You may inform your healthcare provider about the weight distribution change on your feet for consultation.



No two feet are the same.

Your right foot may be less pronated than your left, or one foot may be neutral while the other is supinated. Cushy is smart enough to detect these differences and adjust accordingly for each foot. Furthermore, as you wear Cushy, your pronation or supination may improve. As it does, the shoe adjusts accordingly.



Charging!

Like other smart devices, Cushy needs energy to work. But you don't need to plug Cushy into a wall. They are automatically charged when you walk. Alternatively, Cushy can be charged wirelessly.



Waterproof and Cozy!

Is it raining? Don't worry. Your Cushy is completely waterproof, the sensors and the autonomous sole inside this artificially intelligent shoe are absolutely safe!





Construct	Reference(s)	Adapted Measurement Items
Perceived Interactivity	Yi et al. 2005	To which extent is the product presentation interactive?
		To which extent were you able to interact with this product?
		To which extent was the product presentation responsive to your actions?
Perceived Fit	Hong & Pavlou, 2014	The product matches my requirements.
		The product matches my tastes.
		The product fits my preferences.
		The product is what I am looking for.
		The product attributes (such as color size, texture, style, type, or content (whatever applies)) are what I desire to have.
Perceived Familiarity	Kennedy et al., 2001	In general, would you consider yourself familiar or unfamiliar with the product presented? (very familiar to very unfamiliar)
		Would you consider yourself informed or uninformed about the product presented? (highly informed to not at all informed)
		Would you consider yourself knowledgeable or unknowledgeable about the product presented? (knew a great deal to knew nothing at all)

Appendix G: The Measurement Instruments Adapted from the Extant Literature

Perceived Product Innovativeness	Gatignon et al., 2002	Presented product is a major improvement over the previous technology.
		Presented product was based on a revolutionary change in technology.
		Presented product was a breakthrough innovation.
		Presented product were difficult to replace with substitute using older technology.
		Presented product represents a major technological advance.
Product Type Hedonic	Voss et al., 2003	Not fun/fun
		Dull/exciting
		Not delightful/delightful
		Not thrilling/thrilling
		Enjoyable/unenjoyable
Product Type Utilitarian	Voss et al., 2003	Effective/ineffective
		Helpful/unhelpful
		Functional/not functional
		Necessary/unnecessary
		Practical/impractical
Webpage Reliability	McKinney et al., 2002	The webpage seems trustworthy
		The webpage seems accurate

	The webpage seems credible
--	----------------------------